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Friday, September 2, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Today is the fifteenth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This morning we will begin the examination of the panel on deferral and variance accounts.  Before we begin that portion of the proceeding, I will give you our decision on the matter involving IGUA Interrogatory No. 6.


DECISION:

The Board finds that the information contained in the document entitled "Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. 2005 Business Unit Budget", dated January 19th, would be of value and orders the filing of the document.  It may be filed on a confidential basis.


Mr. O'Leary, you are representing EGDI today?


MR. O'LEARY:  I am, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. O'LEARY:  As you will recall, Mr. Cass actually argued the motion yesterday and I would appreciate, Madam Chair, having an opportunity to consult with him and to respond back to express any concerns or questions that the company may have.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Would you like to introduce your panel?


MR. O'LEARY:  I will, Madam Chair.  Beginning at the chair closest to yourself is Mr. Stephen McGILL, and Mr. McGILL is the manager of strategic projects.  To his right is Kevin Culbert.   Mr. Culbert is the manager of regulatory accounting.


In the middle, as you know is Mr. Patrick Hoey.  He's the director of regulatory affairs.  To the right of Mr. Hoey is Mark Boyce, who is the associate, general counsel and corporate secretary, and to his right is Mr. Eric Krathwohl, who is an attorney with the firm of Rich May in Boston, Massachusetts.


If I could ask that the panel be sworn, Madam Chair, to the extent that those need to be.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 10:


Stephen McGILL; Sworn


Patrick James Hoey; Sworn


Mark Boyce; Sworn


Eric Krathwohl; Sworn


Kevin Culbert; Previously Sworn

EXAMINATION BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, for the record, this panel will be dealing with the outstanding issues relating to deferral and variance account issues, and the pre-filed evidence is found at Exhibit A2, tab 6, schedule 1, pages 6 and 7 and the A8 series of evidence, specifically tabs 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5.


And if I may, as a preliminary matter, ask that two filings be marked as exhibits.  This relates to the late payment penalty.  The first is the Board letter dated September 30th, 2004, which was the direction to the company requiring it to implement a uniform late payment penalty.  And the second is the company's letter to the Board requesting that an accounting order be issued in respect of that.  


And since they may be referred to today, as part of the late payment penalty issue, I would ask they be marked as an exhibit. 


MR. BATTISTA:  The September 30th letter will be given Exhibit No. J15.1, and it will be characterized as the Board letter dated September 30th, regarding late ‑‑ direction to adjust to a common late payment policy.

EXHIBIT NO. K15.1:  BOARD LETTER DATED SEPTEMBER 30, 2004 REGARDING DIRECTION TO ADJUST TO A COMMON LATE PAYMENT POLICY


MR. BATTISTA:  The second document will be given the exhibit number of K15.2, and it will be characterized as a letter from Enbridge to the Board, requesting an accounting order to establish 2005 deferral account.

EXHIBIT NO. K15.2:  ENBRIDGE LETTER TO BOARD REQUESTING ACCOUNTING ORDER TO ESTABLISH 2005 DEFERRAL ACCOUNT

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Battista.


Mr. Boyce, could I turn to you, first of all, and ask you, on behalf of the entire panel, whether or not the information that has been filed, which I have referenced, was prepared by the panel and/or under its direction?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes, it was.


MR. O'LEARY:  And is it adopted for the purposes of the testimony today?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes, it is.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you very much.  Perhaps I could turn, first of all, to you, Mr. McGILL.  Could you tell us what your role was in respect of the preparation of the evidence and your participation on the panel here today?


MR. McCGILL:  Yes.  The evidence with respect to the late payment penalty and the deferral account was prepared by myself or under my supervision, and I am here to speak to the company's request with respect to the costs associated with implementing the change in the late payment penalty and deferral account treatment of those costs.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Culbert, may I ask you what your role is today?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  My responsibility is with respect to the deferral and variance accounts.  I'm responsible for the request, tracking and reporting of amounts and balances within the deferral and variance accounts.  I'm also responsible for providing the rate design group with balances in the accounts to be cleared, if any, and the recording of the accounting entries associated with the clearing of the accounts.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Hoey, may I ask you what your role is in the panel today?


MR. HOEY:  My role is to look at the oversight of the deferral accounts, and specifically Ontario hearing savings account.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Boyce?


MR. BOYCE:  I'm here today to speak largely to the manufactured gas plant variance account issue, and I will also have some comments regarding the Ontario hearing costs variance account.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Krathwohl, I am wondering if you could first provide us with a summary of your professional qualifications and experiences which are relevant to the issues that you will be speaking to today, which are the manufactured gas plant variance account.


MR. KRATHWOHL:  Certainly.  I'm a lawyer with the firm of Rich May in Boston, Massachusetts.  As shown in the bio that I believe has been provided in this proceeding, I've practiced in the area of utilities regulations for over the last 25 years.


In the course of that practice, I've represented gas distribution companies in connection with their compliance with environmental requirements; in particular, the requirements relating to clean-up of manufactured gas plants.  I've also represented those companies in connection with their efforts to obtain rate-making treatment and recognition in their rates of those costs.


In that connection, I've reviewed the decisions and -- I've participated in proceedings, but also reviewed decisions in several regulatory jurisdictions that have addressed that rate-making treatment.


My role here, and in preparation of the evidence in this case, was to discuss the treatment that has been given to the costs relating to former manufactured gas plant facilities.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Krathwohl.  It is our intent, Madam Chair, to start with the manufactured gas plant variance account as the first issue.  May I then turn to you, Mr. Boyce, first of all?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry to interrupt.  Madam Chair, I'm not sure whether my friend is attempting to qualify Mr. Krathwohl as an expert witness, or not.  And I wonder if he could clarify, because, if not, then I think we might wish to ask whether it is appropriate for him to be a witness as opposed to at the counsel table.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Madam Chair, unless my friend is challenging Mr. Krathwohl's credentials as a qualified attorney in the United States, I felt there was no reason to seek any qualification.  In the same way that a chartered accountant who is qualified to speak to the areas of expertise in that area, so is Mr. Krathwohl to speak to legal issues of which he is an expert in the United States.  He's here today, and it's not normal that you would present a lawyer before an administrative panel.  Where it might be presumed that the panel understands the law within that jurisdiction, but where it involves the law of another jurisdiction, and where our submission is that the precedent in the United States is relevant for the purposes of your determination of the appropriateness of the variance account, it is our respectful submission that it is appropriate to hear what is the state of the law in another jurisdiction, an area that this panel does not presumably have knowledge of, and that is why Mr. Krathwohl is being presented today, as a lawyer, and hence qualified to speak to that aspect of the case.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, if what my friend is suggesting is that Mr. Krathwohl is here to tell us the rules in the United States or the precedents in the United States and not to give any expert opinion on their applicability in Canada or their appropriateness in Canada, I don't think I have a problem with that.     
     As soon as -- if the suggestion is that he can assist this Board in what you should do here in Canada, I'm not sure that I've seen anything in his bio or in the interrogatories with respect to his bio that tell us that he has that expertise.  I would be happy to question him, if that is the appropriate way to get to that.  Or if my friend will stipulate that his expertise is limited to what the precedent is currently in the United States, we're happy with that.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Well, perhaps I should clarify at the outset, and Mr. Boyce can confirm this, but it is not the company's intent, in this proceeding, to ask the Board for a determination of whether or not there is responsibility on ratepayers for MPP, remediation, costs, and damages.  The purpose of having Mr. Krathwohl here and the evidence that's been prefiled, which refers to the case law in the United States, is an answer to the Board's decision in the 2003 rate case, which indicated that it would like to receive some evidence as to precedent or an indication of why there should be ratepayer responsibility.  So it is presented to underscore or to support the establishment of the variance account.  The company is not asking for this panel to say definitively that amounts recorded in that account must be cleared through to rates, and therefore the responsibility of ratepayers.     
     So, Mr. Krathwohl is not here to tell this panel what is the right thing to do.  He is here to answer questions and to advise -- or to respond to questions and to indicate, based upon his expertise and experience in the United States, what the regulators have done in the United States and the justifications for it, given his experience and knowledge.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, just one comment.  My friend has basically, I think, if I understand what he said, agreed with the narrowness of the expertise.  I'm happy with that.     
     However, I think it should be very clear that there is an amount of $770,000 in O&M expenses for this category of costs and the company is asking for those to be included in rates in 2006 and, therefore, with the greatest of respect to Mr. O'Leary, the company has raised the issue of ratepayer responsibility and has asked this panel to decide it in this case.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  That's an O&M expense, Madam Chair, that has been requested and there will be a panel that will speak to that.  But this panel is here to speak to the creation of the new deferral account, which would record a variance from that amount.  And this panel and Mr. Krathwohl is not being produced - and I would not accept Mr. Shepherd's characterization -- Mr. Krathwohl's participation as being narrow.  He is here to respond to any questions that you consider appropriate to ask and we felt it appropriate that if we were putting forward a case which relied on the law in a foreign jurisdiction, then we should have someone here from that jurisdiction to respond to questions that intervenors and the panel may have.     
     MS. NOWINA:  If I can summarize very briefly, I think what I'm hearing Mr. O'Leary and Mr. Shepherd agree to is that Mr. Krathwohl's comments and the questions put to him by EGDI counsel will be on a fairly narrow basis.  

I'm sure, Mr. Shepherd, that you will let me know if you think it strays outside the boundaries that you think are appropriate.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well I'm shy, but I will do my best.     
     MS. NOWINA:  On that basis, may we proceed?     

MR. O'LEARY:  Sure.  Mr. Boyce, could you please summarize the company's justification for the approval of the seeking for the establishment of a manufactured gas plant variance account.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, I can.  At exhibit A 8, tab 1, schedule 1, page 15, paragraph 59, the company lists the criteria for the establishment of deferral and variance accounts.  In respect to existing and potential MGP litigation against the company, each of the criteria is fully satisfied.  I will go through those criteria one by one.     
     The first criterion is the materiality of the amount at risk.  The aggregate of the amount claimed in the various actions that have been commenced at this point against the company is over $130 million.  The amounts claimed are described in the company's response to Board Staff interrogatory number 145.     
     While the amount being claimed specifically by Cityscape has not been formally quantified by Cityscape to this point, it is clear they're looking for damages in the millions of dollars.  The company's understanding of the experience of utilities in the United States is that the exposure to damages and clean up costs can be in the millions of dollars.     
     The budgeted cost for the defence of the Cityscape action alone does not include claims against insurance companies or other litigation.     
     The second criterion is the protection of the ratepayer or the shareholder from benefiting at the expense of the other, related to a variance in the forecast amount.  The company has budgeted $770,000 in O&M for 2006.  The variance account will either debit or credit the shareholder or ratepayer if this amount is not spent or exceeded.     
     It is, therefore, fair to both.  For example, if the matter were to settle or be discontinued prior to trial a substantial portion of the 2006 budget will not have been expended because a large portion of the budget assumes a trial and all of the necessary preparations for trial in 2006.     
     The third criterion is the level of uncertainty associated with the forecast amount at risk.  We have found, as many other parties have, that litigation costs are extremely difficult to predict.  The quantum of damages which might be recoverable by the plaintiff range from zero to potentially millions of dollars and cannot be forecast at this time.     
     The cost in propriety of proceeding against the company's own insurers at this stage is not quantifiable or determined but may become necessary in 2006.     
     Finally, the company cannot state with any degree of certainty that other litigation will not be forthcoming or that existing claims will not be revived or pursued.     
     The fourth and final criterion is the aspect of control.  In other words, are the underlying circumstances beyond the company's ability to control?  The company, quite, frankly has no control over the number of claims advanced.  The damages claimed, or the vigour with which a plaintiff may prosecute its claim.  The company has very little control over the costs of litigation, as much depends upon the case advanced by the plaintiff.       
     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Boyce.  Could you specify what it is the company is asking the Board to approve in this proceeding.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, I can.  The company is asking for creation of a manufactured gas plant variance account to record the costs of dealing with and responding to all issues arising out of the ownership and operation of former manufactured gas plants.  This includes legal costs and experts fees which vary from the 2006 budget and clean-up costs or damages paid or payable.     
     In respect of any variance from the budget, for the payment of damages or clean-up costs, it is proposed by the company that the amounts recorded in the 2006 manufactured gas plant variance account be subject to review in a subsequent Board proceeding to confirm the prudency of the expenditure or payment prior to the amounts being cleared through to rates.     
     It is also important to note that in respect of 

clean-up costs or damages paid or payable, the company does not ask the Board to determine at this time that all such amounts should be cleared through to rates.     
     The company proposes that the issue of ratepayers' responsibility for the payment of damages and/or clean-up costs associated with MGP facilities be deferred until a request for clearance is made at which time the company will be able to adduce detailed evidence about the manner in which such costs or damages have been incurred or calculated.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Boyce, I note that there is a fairly detailed reference in the prefiled evidence to the regulatory treatment of MGP costs in the United States.  If the company is not seeking a determination by the Board as to ratepayer responsibility in this proceeding, can you explain why this was included in the pre filed evidence.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes.  The Board stated in its decision with reasons in the RP-2002-0133 proceeding, the 2003 rate case, that it was concerned that the mere existence of the deferral account may imply an expectation of future recovery by the company.     
     The Board specifically stated at paragraph 755 of its decision that the applicant may reapply in the future for a MGPDA, with greater details on the scope, potential costs, and grounds for any ratepayers' responsibility for these costs.     
    The pre-filed evidence was developed with these comments of the Board in mind, with a view to establishing that there is a reasonable argument based upon US precedent for ratepayer responsibility for such costs.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Boyce.  If I could turn to you now, Mr. Krathwohl, I wonder if you could please summarize the treatment of clean-up costs or damages in respect of environmental issues that have arisen as a result of former MGP facilities in the United States of which you are aware and based upon your experience?


MR. KRATHWOHL:  Certainly.  First, there are many, many sites in the United States where environmental contamination exists that resulted from manufactured gas plant operations or the by-product disposal.


I'm not aware of any regulatory review that has concluded that the existence of such coal tar materials shows any unreasonable utility actions, and, in fact, in the circumstances that I am aware of, the utilities have shown that their actions were consistent with the then current industry standards.


Further, the investigation, remediation and other associated costs related to the former MGP facilities and operations have been treated as a current cost of doing business for gas utilities in a number of jurisdictions.


In that context, the regulatory authorities have allowed the utilities' recovery of those costs and utility rates.  And the ‑- that treatment is based upon a number of reasons, and one of those is the determination that it's important for the gas utilities to comply with their current legal obligations and that it is also important that the utilities be able to recover such costs for concern about their financial condition.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Krathwohl.  Turning now to, Madam Chair, the Ontario hearing costs variance account, a different subject, may I turn to Mr. Culbert.  And could you advise what is the company proposing with respect to the clearance of the 2005 Ontario hearing costs variance account?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  As noted at page 30 of the 2006 settlement agreement, the questions outstanding to be determined by the Board in respect of the 2005 OHCVA are whether the appeal costs and re-hearing costs, if any, related to the Alliance-Vector remand proceeding are properly recorded in the 2005 OHCVA and, ultimately, the appropriate disposition of those costs.


The company has agreed, pending resolution of these questions by the Board, that it will not clear any of the costs recorded in this account that relate to the Alliance-Vector ...

     MR. O'LEARY:  Picking up on that note, then, could I ask you, Mr. Boyce, to provide an update as to the status of the court's treatment of the Board's decision in respect of the Alliance-Vector Pipelines disallowance?


MR. BOYCE:  Certainly.  The company appealed from the decision of the Ontario Energy Board that was dated December 18, 2002, which, in brief, found that the company did not act prudently in incurring Alliance 1 and Alliance 2 costs, thereby denying recovery of $11 million in costs incurred.  


The company launched an appeal to the Divisional Court, which was heard on February 15th of this year by a panel consisting of Justices Lane, Malloy and Power.  The court released its decision on March 2nd, 2005.


In brief, the court found that while the Board clearly articulated the correct test for the prudence review and appeared to understand it, there were two clear references to a consideration of events which occurred after decisions were made by the company in the context of the Board's consideration of the prudence of these decisions.


I will quote from the Divisional Court's decision at paragraph 38:

"In this case, the Board described the test correctly, instructed itself not to use hindsight in evaluating prudence, but then slipped in its application of the test and did allow hindsight to creep into its consideration of prudence.  That is a fundamental error of law."


That's the end of the quote.  As a result, the Divisional Court remitted the matter back to the Board for consideration by a differently-constituted tribunal.


Subsequently, the Board sought leave to appeal to the Ontario Court of Appeal.  The Court of Appeal granted leave on July 14th of this year.  As of that date, no date for the appeal has been set.  However, a substantial portion of the time preparing for the appeal will occur in 2005.


MR. O'LEARY:  Mr. Boyce, as a result of the appeal by the Board, can you tell us what the status is of the remand by the Divisional Court back to the Board for reconsideration?


MR. BOYCE:  Quite simply, the remand is on hold until the Court of Appeal proceedings are completed.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  If I could turn to you now, Mr. Hoey, can you advise the Panel as to what the company's proposal is for the clearance of costs relating to the Alliance prudence appeals in 2005?


MR. HOEY:  Yes.  I would like to do it this in a couple of stages.  The first stage is that in accordance with the 2005 settlement agreement, the company, with -- regarding the 2005 OHC VA, the company does not propose to record any of the costs that the company incurred as part of its Divisional Court appeal regarding the Alliance-Vector disallowance.  


Now ‑‑ so that takes us up to the point where the Divisional Court has made this decision.


The next step after is that the company is now faced with, however, that the unique situation where the OEB has appealed that decision and, having been granted that appeal, we now are required to defend our self, defend the decision that's already been granted by the Divisional Court.


It is our understanding ‑‑ it is our belief that the ‑‑ we know that the OEB has retained an outside counsel to represent them and that there will be costs incurred by that counsel with regards to the appeal process, the seeking of the appeal, and then the appeal itself.  And those costs will be -‑ that outside counsel will presumably account for those back to the Ontario Energy Board, and the company believes that those costs will be then passed on to Enbridge for recovery through our deferral accounts through to ratepayers.


By comparison, though, if the company wasn't allowed to recover its costs in regards to the appeals, then -- in defending its position, we just don't think that that is a fair and reasonable assessment.  So we would like to recover the costs that the company will incur in the 2005 deferral account subsequent to the court's decision.


Ultimately, if the appeal process goes through and there is going to be a re-hearing, obviously all the re-hearing costs would go through the deferral account, because it would be a hearing before the Ontario Energy Board and, therefore, properly categorized as a cost that would go through the deferral account.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Hoey.  Just for clarity, you indicated that what the company is proposing is that it would record accounts subsequent to the court's decision.  By the court's decision, you're referring to costs incurred subsequent to the Divisional Court decision?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Mr. Boyce, can you advise of the costs that the company has incurred to date in respect of the leave application and the company's forecast for the costs it will incur in respect of the appeal to the Court of Appeal?


MR. BOYCE:  Certainly.  Thus far, since the leave application was commenced by the Ontario Energy Board, the company has expended approximately $85,000 in legal fees and disbursements, and we expect to spend approximately $100,000 more to see the matter through to the Court of Appeal hearing.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Turning back to Mr. Hoey, I'm going to ask you to address the company's proposal for the 2006 Ontario hearing costs variance account, and I understand that evidence has been pre-filed in respect of the 2006 Ontario hearing cost variance account at A8, tab 1, schedule 1, page 13.


Is it the company's intention to ask for something which is somewhat different than that requested in the pre-filed evidence?


MR. HOEY:  I would say only slightly.  But, also, I think we want to just clarify what we're looking to recover.


I think the wording that has typically been used in the deferral accounts in the past is the words "rate hearings", "leave to construct hearings" and "generic hearings".


In reviewing the Ontario Energy Board's business plans and also reports like the Natural Gas Forum report, it is clear that there are going to be proceedings and/or processes that are going to be held by the Ontario Energy Board which may or may not fall under the word "hearing".  And so our intent is that those ‑- that the costs that Enbridge would incur in participating in any process or proceeding at the Ontario Energy Board, that those costs be recoverable through that deferral account.     
     Then also, I guess the changes that there will be any related litigation expenses that would arise out of that at some future date, if there were any.     
     The thing is, I guess the important thing is, we're not asking for clearance of any amounts at this point in time and that we would bring all amounts in front of the Board to ensure that they're prudently incurred so this would just be the recording of the accounts, not necessarily the disposition of the accounts.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  Turning to the next account in issue, Madam Chair, which is the late payment penalty provision deferral account, I would turn to you Mr. McGILL and ask you, what are the issues which the Board is being asked to decide in respect to the company's request to establish a late payment penalty deferral account.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  Thank you.  By letter dated September 30th, 2004, the Board required the company, along with all other Ontario energy distribution utilities, to adopt a single uniform late payment penalty consisting of a monthly interest rate to be applied on the outstanding monthly balances of accounts equating to an annual interest rate of 19.56 percent.  The monthly interest rate is to be one and a half percent.     
     We investigated what was required to put this in place and we received an estimate initially of $700,000 and that was to take six to nine months to put in place.     
     There was no opportunity to include these costs or any of the related revenue impacts in the company's 2005 budget.  And the cost has to be incurred by the company in 2005 in order to comply with the Board's directive.  And that, we submit that this is a cost that should be cleared through rates.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. McGILL.  Could you advise the Board as to what formal steps the company has taken to implement the new uniform late payment penalty.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  In addition to working on the implementation in our systems, we have applied to the Board for an accounting order, that application is dated July 7th, 2005, and in that request, we've asked for the clearance of the amounts recorded in the late payment penalty revision deferral account, as part of the approval sought in this proceeding.  And at the commencement of the oral portion of this proceeding, the Board had ordered that the requests for the establishment of the deferral account and the clearance of the costs be decided within this proceeding.     
     The company intends to implement the new LPP on October 1st, 2005.  We require the approval of the Board in order to implement the revised late payment penalty at this time, or at that time, in October.  And rather than ask for an early decision in this proceeding, in that it is unlikely we're going to complete the evidentiary portion of this proceeding before October 1st, we have elected to seek the Board's approval to implement the new late payment penalty as part of the October 1st QRAM application.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Do you have an estimated date for the filing of the QRAM application materials, Mr. McGILL?     
     MR. McGILL:  I believe that was filed yesterday, if not today.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And what are the costs that the company has incurred or will incur in respect to the implementation of the revised late payment penalty policy?     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  It's our expectation that the cost of implementing the new form of penalty will be $620,000, plus potential out-of-pocket expenses incurred by our service provider.  And I've included the pricing information that's recorded in the statement of work we have with the contractor and that is filed at Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 14, page 3.  And that interrogatory is Schools number 14.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  And, Mr. McGILL, can you advise the Board as to the anticipated impact on the company's 2005 revenue forecast as a result of the company implementing the new late payment penalty as of October 1st, 2005.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  In terms of the impact 2005 compared to 2006, in 2006 we expect the LPP revenue to increase by approximately $300,000 over the 2005 estimate.  Those are both annual year-over-year comparisons.     
     In terms of 2005, it is important to recognize that the new payment LPP will only be in effect beginning October 1st.  The impact of that is, in terms of revenues, it only really affects November and December because the new payment or late payment would be applicable to the October receivables and we wouldn't know whether or not we would be applying a penalty to those receivables until we're into the November billing cycle.     
     There will be little or no impact on our forecast of LPP revenues for 2005 as a result of implementing the change in October.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  All right.  Mr. McGILL, then could you please advise the panel as to the company's preferred approach in respect of dealing with the costs that it has and will incur with respect to the implementation of the late payment penalty.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  Our preference is that the $620,000 fixed fee for the implementation of the changes to the billing and customer systems be recorded in the deferral account and cleared on January 1st, 2006.  In the alternative, the company would propose that the actual amount that we are billed for the charges -- which could be in excess of $620,000 -- be recorded in the deferral account, once that actual amount is known, together with any variance from the forecast in the LPP revenues, once the actual figures are known at the end of December.  And then we would bring those, the net of those amounts forward for disposition at a future rate proceeding.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. McGILL.  Staying with you, turning to the next subject, which is the 2006 customer communication planned deferral account, may I ask you, Mr. McGILL, why the company is proposing that this account continue in 2006.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  The customer communication planned deferral account has a fairly long history.  It was initiated in the late 1990s when there was a significant I guess developments in the direct purchase market in Ontario.     
     In terms of why we think it is appropriate to maintain this account in the test year, we're faced with the prospect, I think, of significant change in 2006 with respect to what the outcomes of the Natural Gas Forum could be, what the implications of that could be with respect to system gas, the availability and purpose of system gas, in terms of its position in the marketplace in Ontario.  And, again, the current situation, given the degree of instability in gas commodity prices, if we run into another situation as we did in 2001 with rapid escalations in prices, we saw significant increases in market or activity, and I think if we face that kind of situation again in 2006 there's going to be a real need to communicate with customers to make sure they understand what their options might be and what the implications of those options are.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  And Mr. McGILL, can you generally describe for the Board what is the nature of the costs that the company might expect to record in this account and possibly the amounts.     
     MR. McGILL:  Well, these typically we would use bill inserts to communicate this kind of information and depending on the significance of the situation at the time, if we were to move into newsprint, things like that, we could be running into, you know, half a million to a million dollars, if we get into print and publications, things like that.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. McGILL.  

The next question relates to the company's proposal to establish the 2006 corporate cost allocation methodology deferral account, it's actually a continuance.  Could you advise, please, Mr. Culbert, as to why the company is proposing the continuance of that particular account?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I can.  The company is proposing the continuance of this deferral account based on the following.  The company was directed by the Board in the RP‑2002‑0133 proceeding to obtain an independent audit review of its corporate cost allocation methodology for the services that it receives from Enbridge Inc., And was also allowed or permitted to recover the costs of that independent review through a deferral account set up for that purpose.  


As the company has proposed a new corporate cost allocation methodology in this proceeding, the RCAM, it is very much a live issue, and, as a result, in the event that the Board requests a further review or variation of the RCAM, the company proposes to continue this deferral account to record related costs pending resolution of this issue by the Board in this proceeding.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Culbert.  Madam Chair, those are the questions in‑chief for this panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Can I get an indication from the intervenors who would like to question this panel, timing and order, please?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I think it's been agreed, Madam Chair, that I will go first.  I expect to be approximately 20 minutes, and that's not just because it is Friday.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Shepherd, I believe, was following me, and then I think it's Mr. De Vellis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I expect to be two hours.  I should also add that Mr. Dingwall has advised me that he will be here before Mr. De Vellis is finished and he has about a half an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. De Vellis.


MR. De VELLIS:  Madam Chair, I expect approximately 20 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson, would you like to begin?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Panel, if you have the settlement agreement there handy, I wanted to start with some items in section 16.2.  This is Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 31.


This topic is a request to continue or establish new deferral and variance accounts for 2006, and the first one I want to just touch on quickly is the 2006 customer communication plan deferral account that you spoke to, Mr. McGILL.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's your responsibility.  And I think I would like you to turn up, as well, in the settlement agreement Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, which is the update of the forecast amounts for clearing, and at line 5 there is nothing recorded in this account for 2005; correct?


MR. McGILL:  Let me just ‑‑ that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you mentioned that this account dates back to the -- as I recall it, the advent of direct purchase?


MR. McGILL:  I don't believe it dates that far back.  My recollection is that it came into being probably in 1998.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. McGILL:  I think direct purchase goes back to 1985 or '86.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, even further back, depending where you want to start.


Okay, that's fair.  But I suggest to you that when nothing is recorded in a prior year, it's time to close this account, and now you have come forward and have, in‑chief, made some vague reference to the possibility of some communications arising from the Natural Gas Forum.  That's the rationale, is it, for keeping this account open?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.  I think the rationale is that over the course of the test year, we believe that there is a strong possibility that there may be a need to communicate with customers to make them aware of changes in the marketplace that could affect their options and the decisions they make with respect to their gas commodity supply.


MR. THOMPSON:  You don't have a forecast.  It appears to me it is strictly speculation on your part.


MR. McGILL:  I would characterize it more as a contingency than speculative.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's leave it there.  I will leave that for argument as to whether it is appropriate to have a deferral account to cover a contingency.


The next one, Mr. Cuthbert, is for you - Culbert, excuse me - corporate cost allocations.  And for this, I just want to start with, if I could, Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1.  And at line 11, there is an amount shown in there of -- this is the 2005 corporate cost allocation account, which I believe would have started to operate around October the 1st of 2004; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  Subject to check, that is probably correct, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what is recorded in here is $419,000.  Are you able to confirm, on the record, that that relates to the work that Deloitte's did in the 2005 case?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  My understanding of the amounts that are contained in this account are solely with respect to the independent review of this corporate cost allocation.


MR. THOMPSON:  In the 2005 case; correct?  In other words, it has nothing to do with what Deloitte's did in this case starting in, I think the evidence was, July of 2004?


MR. CULBERT:  That is my understanding.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's your understanding.  Could you just confirm that?  Do you have to check to make sure that that is right?


MR. CULBERT:  I have already discussed the matter with Mr. Mees pertaining to the amounts that are in here, and I am satisfied that that is what is in the account.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  We were told from the corporate cost allocation panel that the first study cost about $400,000, and it appears that all of it has shown up in this deferral account.  Is that an accurate statement?


MR. CULBERT:  That I believe is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Perhaps you would take it, subject to check, and if there is something that needs to be added, you would put it on the record.


MR. CULBERT:  Absolutely.


MR. THOMPSON:  In other words, if Deloitte’s have sent out bills for that work in the 2005 case and have been paid and that money is not in this deferral account, then that would suggest this is something else.  Do you follow me?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I would take that, subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  So let's just leave it, then, as a subject to check.  Thanks.


And then moving forward now into 2006, you're seeking the establishment of a corporate cost allocation deferral account again.  And the rationale for that is, what, in 25 words or less?


MR. CULBERT:  The rationale is as we stated.  This is a contentious issue in this case, obviously.  And to the extent that the Board offers or requests a review of the RCAM or a change in the methodology, we're proposing that the costs associated with those changes or reviews should be recorded in a deferral account.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So I think what you're really saying is the Board, in its decision on the corporate cost allocation matters that have been raised in this case, may wish to consider a deferral account in the event it requires further study.  It's another contingency that really is tied to the Board's decision.  Have I got that straight?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I would agree.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, in terms of the other items, starting firstly with the late payment penalty deferral account, that's you, Mr. McGILL?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that's a request for the establishment of a 2005 deferral account; is that right?


MR. McGILL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it is really -‑ is it fair to characterize it as a request for retroactive relief?


MR. McGILL:  I don't believe so, given that we're still within the 2005 fiscal year.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. McGILL:  We became aware of the requirement to incur these expenses after the 2005 budget was set.  There was no provision for them in our costs for 2005.


We're responding to a directive of the Board.  It is not as though this is a discretionary expenditure, and we believe it is appropriate to bring forward the request for the deferral account.


MR. THOMPSON:  But it is a one-time charge?  Like, this is not going to happen again?  It is $620,000; is that correct?


MR. McGILL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I think you indicated there may be some revenues in 2005, but they will only be realized from November 1 on and they’re marginal or incidental or something?     
     MR. McGILL:  That's correct.  Our forecast for a late payment penalty revenue to the end of 2005 is basically right on budget.  We forecast $7.1 million and we're going to come in pretty much right on $7.1 million and that's as of, including our July actual late payment penalty revenue in the estimate for December 31st.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me just understand that.  I thought you said the revenues will increase with this new method.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  The revenues are expected to increase with the new methodology, but when you consider all other variances that we've incurred since January in 2005 and then you take into account the expectation for the remaining months of the year, we expect that the variance is going to come in under $1,000.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  No.  No.  What is the incremental revenue associated with the -- forget about how it stacks up against your annual forecast.  What is the incremental revenue associated with this change for the period November to December?     
     MR. McGILL:  It's approximately $160,000.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if we net the 160,000 against the $620,000, we're now below $500,000.     
     MR. McGILL:  That would be correct.  Yes.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  For a one-time charge.  And just to put it in context, you might just want to take a look at IGUA number 12.  You don't have to turn this up.  But this is a question:  What were the company's earnings as of September 30, 2004, i.e., the 2004 test year.  And on an actual basis, the earnings in excess of the allowed return before tax were $43.8 million, after tax, $28.4 million.  Would you take that subject to check?     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  And on a normalized basis, $17 million before tax and $11 million after tax.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes, I will take that subject to check.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  Take that subject to check?  And we're here quibbling about an item that is net under $500,000, a 

one-time charge.     
     MR. McGILL:  Well I wouldn't agree with that characterization.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  I didn't think you would.  You have filed certain correspondence from the Board or to the Board, I guess, K 15.2 containing the request for a late payment penalty.  IGUA sent a letter to the Board I believe in response to that letter.  I was wondering if I could just have an undertaking to mark that as an exhibit in this proceeding.  Is that a problem?     
     MR. McGILL:  We can do that.     
     MS. NOWINA:  Do we have copies of that?     
     MR. THOMPSON:  I don't have copies.  I'm sorry, at the moment.  We simply raised the question of materiality and if we could have it -- an undertaking number for it, it will get in the record.     
     MS. NOWINA:  An undertaking number?     
     MR. BATTISTA:  An undertaking to provide the exhibit?  Okay.  That will be undertaking J 15.1.
     Regarding IGUA -- to provide IGUA's response to EGDI's application regarding the late penalty methodology.

UNDERTAKING NO. J15.1:  TO PROVIDE IGUA’S RESPONSE TO EGDI’S APPLICATION REGARDING LATE PENALTY METHODOLOGY

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.  Thank you.  Let me move on then.  Just to the discussion that we had about the Alliance-Vector costs, I think that is you Mr. Hoey, maybe Mr. Boyce as well.  But this issue is, I think, described in part, at least, in the settlement agreement N 1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 30 at the bottom of the page and over to the next page.     
     I just want to be clear on what the company's current proposal is.  The agreement states:  The questions to be determined by the Board are whether the appeal costs and rehearing costs, if any, related to the Alliance-Vector remand proceeding are properly recorded in the 2005 OHCVA and ultimately the appropriate disposition of those costs.  And pending resolution of those questions by the Board, the company will not clear any of the costs recorded in the 2005 OHCVA that relate to Alliance-Vector but will clear the balance, which I understand to mean the amounts other than Alliance-Vector recorded.     
     That's the agreement, is it?     
MR. HOEY:  Yes, it is.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so I understood that to mean everything that was incurred in connection with the company's appeal to the divisional court, would be excluded from clearing; is that correct?     
     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  But I understood you to say, Mr. Hoey, in-chief, that you may not be, now, recording some of those amounts in the account.  Did I understand that correctly?  Or did I misunderstand?     
     MR. HOEY:  We're not going to record, in the accounts, the money spent by the company up to the decision of the divisional court.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So when you say that, are you, then, saying that -- you accept the, the company accepts that that should not be charged to ratepayers at any time?     
     MR. HOEY:  At this point in time the company is saying, yes, that the agreement we had under the 2005 ADR agreement did not allow us to recover those costs and so we are not recovering those costs from ratepayers.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  So those are not going to be charged to -- not going to be recorded and therefore not subject to clearance at any time.  They're just not in the account.     
     MR. HOEY:  That's right.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  Were they in it initially and you have taken them out?     
     MR. HOEY:  They may have been put in there for a while and then we've journal-entried them out.  It is kind of one of the -- I mean until the books close at the end of the year, they're not officially in there.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that the OHCVA number shown in the Exhibit N, tab 1, schedule 1, of - maybe this tells me right here.  The 3909 excludes all Alliance-Vector costs.     
     MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  The $85,000.  I understand you to be saying, Mr. Hoey, that comes out of the account.     
     MR. CULBERT:  The $85,000 is actually interest on the balance in the account so the amounts that have been excluded are different from -- the 85,000 is not amounts that have been excluded.  The amounts that have been excluded are something other than what you see.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  What's the amount that's been excluded?     
     MR. CULBERT:  I would have to undertake to provide you the number.  I think we -- we might have answered an interrogatory.  I will have to undertake to provide that number.     
     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J 15.2.     
     UNDERTAKING NO. J15.2:  PROVIDE AMOUNT THAT’S BEEN

EXCLUDED FROM ALLIANCE/VECTOR COSTS

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Then, Mr. Hoey, -- so up until divisional court rules in your favour, nothing.  Then I think what you're saying is now that the divisional court has ruled in your favour you will start recording costs associated with the Alliance-Vector appeal to the Court of Appeal and there may be something already incurred on account of that exercise, I think you mentioned an amount, Mr. Boyce, did you?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, $85,000 so far in 2005

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Those costs will be subject to the disposition of the -- the disposition of it will be subject to a later case.  Is that right?     
     MR. HOEY:  Yes, yes.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  They're not being cleared in this case?     
     MR. CULBERT:  Correct.  Some future proceeding.     
     MR. TOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, in terms of the –-

MR. HOEY:  Just to be clear with that.  If there is a rehearing, we would record those and bring them forward too, as well.     
    MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I think I understand now.  They will all be set aside.  Whatever you record pertaining r to Alliance-Vector will all be set aside and we'll come back to it later, depending on the outcome of the Ontario Court of Appeal decision.     
     MR. HOEY:  Correct.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  I think that is the concept.     
     MR. HOEY:  Yes.     
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.  Now, in terms of the OHCVA on a go-forward basis, Mr. Shepherd is, I think, going to take the lead there.  But I just wanted to understand the terminology point that you were making, Mr. Hoey.     
     The Ontario hearing costs -- what's the name of this account again?     
     MR. CULBERT:  Ontario hearing cost variance account.     

MR. THOMPSON:  Ontario hearings cost variance account.  You were making a point, Mr. Hoey, as I understood you, about tightening up the language to get the scope of this account clearer.


MR. HOEY:  I guess where I was at, I was trying to get the language to be clearer, not necessarily that it might be tightened, because I think what I would be using instead of the word "hearing", I think we should be using the word either "process" or "proceeding".  A good example is the Natural Gas Electricity Interface review process.  Enbridge has been asked to be a funder of that process, and I believe a number of the intervenor parties in this room have sought funding status from that.  But technically that isn't a hearing.  


So I don't want to get into this debate over what a word means and what costs go in.  So that is really what I'm trying to get to.


MR. THOMPSON:  I just wanted to get that clarified, that you're talking about, I guess, not tightening; perhaps broadening or clarifying the scope of the account to make ‑‑ from your perspective, to make sure it encompasses processes that might not strictly be a hearing?


MR. HOEY:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  But these are processes before the OEB?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And do I understand that it excludes processes before the OEB -‑ well, it includes processes before the OEB in which Enbridge is an applicant or dragged in as a generic proceeding participant.  Is that what your vision is?


MR. HOEY:  Yes, generally, I would say that that -- and that is generally how we approached it in the past, too.  So, yes, that is our ‑‑ I can't ‑‑ I'm trying not to guess what we might be dragged into and how we might be in front of the Board or participating in front of the Board.


MR. THOMPSON:  But does it exclude cases in which EGD pops up as an intervenor; for example, showing up in Union's case as an intervenor?  Will you have the protection of this account, under your vision, in that type of scenario?


MR. HOEY:  Typically, in a Union case we will be an intervenor, but typically that would be what I will call an operating cost of the company.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. HOEY:  Now, the one difference would be what happened this spring where there was an agreement being signed by parties that would have amended the schedule for the 2006 rate hearing, and we brought a motion to ensure that that didn't happen and we believe that that is an appropriate cost to be recovered from ratepayers, because it was affecting our 2006 rate case.


But had it been the normal process of intervening in a Union Gas case, those costs would not have been brought forward for recovery through the deferral accounts.


 MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, generally ‑‑ and maybe we'll just have to see how it goes, but, generally, you are not seeking deferral account protection for cases of other parties before the OEB in which EGD intervenes?


MR. HOEY:  I would say typically, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Finally, with respect to the manufactured gas plant account, proposed account, again, Mr. Shepherd will do the bulk of this, the examination of this topic, but I just want to understand the current status of the situation.


You are engaged in litigation where you're forecasting some litigation costs for 2006; is that correct, Mr. Boyce?


MR. BOYCE:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  But as far as 2006 goes, that's it?  You're involved in a piece of litigation and you're forecasting the costs that you're likely to incur?


MR. BOYCE:  At this point ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right?


MR. BOYCE:  At this point in our O&M budget, we're forecasting the cost of a specific piece of litigation for 2006, but I think as we outline in our evidence, certainly the possibility of other MGP litigation is sitting out there.


MR. THOMPSON:  And this is litigation that EGD is defending, as I understand it; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, has EGD brought the insurers in as third parties in this litigation?


MR. BOYCE:  We have made substantial efforts to contact -- locate and contact both current and historic insurers and have engaged in several rounds of correspondence with them to put them on notice and seek coverage under the policies that have existed, both now and in the past.


MR. THOMPSON:  Have you brought them in as third parties in the litigation formally?


MR. BOYCE:  Not at this point in time, no, we haven't.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what's the level of energy you're devoting to getting some decisions from the insurers as to whether they're going to defend, extend coverage and so on?


MR. BOYCE:  We are expending significant energy, in my view, to do that.  We're employing Mr. O'Leary's firm to, as I said earlier ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Did you put that out to tender?  Just a joke.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But the status of the insurance issue is still unclarified; is that fair?


MR. BOYCE:  That's fair, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the ‑‑ just one other area that I will raise, and I'm sure others will expand on it, but I think Enbridge got its interest in this business from British Gas; is that right?


MR. BOYCE:  Well, certainly IPL, or Interprovincial as it then was, purchased the shares of Consumers Gas.  I believe that transaction was completed in 1994.


MR. THOMPSON:  And have any claims over been made against the vendor of the business to IPL, to your knowledge?  Has that been even investigated?


MR. BOYCE:  Not to my knowledge, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that in terms of establishing this account now and versus sometime later when the exposure to a judgment becomes -- if possible, becomes clearer, nothing has really changed very much since we last looked at this?


MR. BOYCE:  Well, I think the one thing that has changed significantly is we've got one lawsuit that's required us to devote significant resources to defending that we have quite legitimate prospects.  We'll be very active in the test year.  That is the main difference since the last time we brought this issue before the Board.


MR. THOMPSON:  But your company is involved in defending lawsuits all the time?


MR. BOYCE:  This one is unique, in terms of the amount of work that had to go into investigating historical records simply to complete the discovery process, and we would expect that it will continue to be a unique piece of litigation as we proceed potentially to trial.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, these rate cases are a monumental piece of litigation and you can forecast those costs.


MR. BOYCE:  We do rate cases almost every year.  This is not something that we do every year.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks very much.  I will argue later on the basis of what is on the record now and what Mr. Shepherd can accomplish, and others.  


Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  With your permission, I will take your leave to go home.  I can't be here next week, but my associate, Vince DeRose, will be here on Thursday and Friday to protect IGUA's interests.  And just before I close, Mr. Bourke of Enbridge indicated that no senior counsel had asked, through you, permission to remove their coats if it got too hot, and so I said I would raise that point.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, you're free and everybody else is free to remove your coats if they need to.  Feel free to do that.  You're excused, Mr. Thompson.  Have a nice weekend.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  You, too.


MS. NOWINA:  We will, I think, break now for our morning break and resume at 10:30.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:15 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:35 a.m.     
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd.     
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm going to spend most of my time talking about manufactured gas plants, but let me just deal with a couple of other things briefly.  

     First, Mr. McGILL, dealing with the late payment penalty deferral account, you said in your direct -- you explained in your direct what your proposal is for the clearance of this account and I have to tell you, you lost me.  And it's not in the written evidence anywhere, is it, your proposal?     
     MR. McGILL:  Our intent to clear the account.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes it is not in the evidence anywhere, is it?     
     MR. McGILL:  I would have to check the evidence.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could just describe again what your proposal is for what you want to clear and when.     
     MR. McGILL:  The proposal is to record the cost of implementing the change to the late payment penalty in the deferral account and then clearing that account to rates this January.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now that is $620,000; right?     
     MR. McGILL:  That's correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But what about these additional charges by CWLP as having the additional charges.     
     MR. McGILL:  What additional charges?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said something about additional out of pockets.     
     MR. McGILL:  The quote is $620,000 plus out-of-pocket expenses, which haven't been determined at this point in time.  I wouldn't expect them to be significant.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So this will be not a material amount.     
     MR. McGILL:  I wouldn't expect that, no.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're proposing that the whole amount then be cleared January 1st?     
     MR. McGILL:  That's correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --
     MR. McGILL:  Our proposal is the $620,000.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Not the out of pockets.     
     MR. McGILL:  That's right.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you said something about an alternative.  What was the alternative?     
     MR. McGILL:  Well, the alternative would be to wait until the end of December when we know exactly what the variance is and the late penalty payment is for the 12 months of the 2005 year and then, apply -- adjust the $620,000 plus the out-of-pocket expenses for whatever that variance is.     
     Right now we anticipate the variance over the full 12 months is going to be less than $1,000.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the out of pockets are going to be very small too.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  I'm not expecting any kind of significant charge there.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So your preference is ...
     MR. McGILL:  Let's settle it now.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  620,000.     
     MR. McGILL:  Right.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Also with you now, just dealing with the customer communications deferral account, you talked about this as a contingency.  Now you have a budget for this already, right, of $1.9 million.     
     MR. McGILL:  I'm not aware of that or what would be included in that.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm just looking at A6, tab 7, schedule 3, which has in it the budget, if you look at page 7, you see the department budget for half this category is.  PGA, and that has $1,895,000 for customer and communications.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  And that would be our normal ongoing communication efforts with customers that occur year in, year out.  And what we're proposing that we would capture in the communication plan deferral account are costs that would be above and beyond that, associated with gas commodity supply options that are available to customers, or could become available to customers in the course of the test year.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So I'm looking at page 8 of that schedule in paragraph 22, and it says you already have two gas pricing campaigns planned as part of the budget.     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  And as I indicated, we've got things that are transpiring that could have an impact in the test year, such as the Natural Gas Forum and again, I indicated earlier, that we're into a situation where we've got a lot of instability in gas pricing and that could give rise to the need to communicate to customers beyond what is anticipated in that budget.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So are you proposing that this account be limited to communications programs that the Board orders you to do?     
     MR. McGILL:  We could be ordered to undertake these things.  I believe we have been ordered to do this kind of communication in the past.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.     
MR. McGILL:  Let me finish.  Typically, what we would anticipate is that in our pipeline newsletter or in a bill insert, maybe once or twice a year, we might advise customers as to what gas supply options are available to them.  And that budget would be based on a fairly stable environment with respect to prices or changes in the marketplace.     
     If we get into a situation where there is significant change with respect to aspects of system gas or if we have significant run-ups in the commodity pricing, we might get into newsprint and other forms of communication that aren't anticipated in that budget that are much more expensive.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  First of all, let's deal with my question.  My question was a very specific one.  Are you proposing that this account be limited to advertising you are ordered to do by the Board?     
     MR. McGILL:  No.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is any advertising that you do that's more than $1,895,000; right?     
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.     
MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.     
MR. McGILL:  If we find ourselves in a situation where we're getting an inordinate number of additional telephone enquiries, things of that nature for customers, we might find it necessary to go out and undertake some communication efforts above and beyond what we normally would do.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And now you just said a second ago that, of course, what this would allow you to do is go to a broader type of campaign with media and things like that.  I guess here I am looking at again at paragraph 22, it said -- describes the campaigns that you already have in your budget and says, I quote:   

“In addition to the continued use of bill inserts, media advertising campaigns will reach those customers who do not read bill inserts and reinforce and support the messages in the bill inserts for those who do.”

So you've already included in your budget the media side; right?     
     MR. McGILL:  The budget is based on status quo.  The purpose of the deferral account is to deal with expenditures that arise that are outside of the status quo.  That's the point I'm trying to make.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true that this budget for customer communications has already increased 60 percent under your proposal, 60 percent over the last two years; correct?     
     MR. McGILL:  I'm aware it has increased, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's a substantial increase?     
     MR. McGILL:  Some might consider it to be, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Finally, before I get to manufactured gas plants, let me just turn to the Ontario hearings -- hearing cost variance account.     
     I am actually going to ask you, Mr. Hoey, about your budget for Ontario hearing costs when you come on the panel dealing with regulatory.  I think that is the appropriate time; right?     
     But I want to ask about just the specific issues relating to the variance account that you're proposing.  To do that, I wonder if you could turn to Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 4 at page 7.  Could you do that, please.     
     MR. HOEY:  Yes, I have that.  What page?     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 7.     
     MR. HOEY:  Yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I would just like to do -- this is your budget for 2006, right, proposed?     
     MR. HOEY:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  What I would like to do is see if you can identify for me which of those items are to be, in your proposal, in the Ontario hearing cost variance account.  Can we just do it line by line to make sure I am clear.  You have the first line here, salaries and expenses, of 1,994,000.  

     Now as I understand it, none of that is subject to the variance account; is that right?     
     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have a line, upstream proceedings, that's when you go to the National Energy Board and things like that; right?     
     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And none of that is included.

     MR. HOEY:  No.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the amount you charge to affiliates, that's not part of your variance account.     
     MR. HOEY:  No.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the Ontario Energy Board costs -- this is the bill you get from the Board; right?     
     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And does this include just the one annual bill?  Or does that include bills that, for example, if you are ordered to fund a proceeding, does that include that?  Is that in that budget?  Or is this just the one bill you get from the Board for the year?     
     [Witness panel confers]     
     MR. HOEY:  It's intended to recover all Ontario Energy Board costs and for the most part, most of that is what I will call the fixed costs portion to Enbridge Gas.  I mean, it doesn't come as one bill.  It comes to us in three or four.  But we also know that the Board is has also indicated to us that there may be variable costs associated in addition to those charges, so that would also flow through there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that 6.8 million, the 6.8 million you just got by calling the Board and saying, What do you think you're going to charge us next year?


MR. HOEY:  No.  They hadn't done the budgets for next year when we filed this evidence.  We saw this evidence last year and they haven't sent us an invoice for 2006 yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how did you get the number?


MR. HOEY:  We estimated it based upon what they sent us as a bill last year for 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We will come back to that in the budget.  But, in any case, this line item is only the OEB costs; right?  It doesn't include, for example, intervenor funding or any of your costs, nothing; just the Board costs?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is 100 percent subject to the variance account; is that correct?


MR. HOEY:  That's -– um -- could you ask your question again, because I'm just ...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is not actually a trick question.


MR. HOEY:  I didn't think it was.  I just wanted to make sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will get to the trick questions in a second.


This amount ‑‑ any variance, 100 percent of any variance from this, is in the variance account; right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the next line ‑‑ I'm going to skip Ontario hearings for a second, because I think we have to talk about that in more detail, but let's go to fixed internal charges.  Now, that is actually your corporate cost allocations; right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that no part of that is included in the variance account?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, if ‑‑ but part of that might be if you have people from Calgary coming in as witnesses; right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct, but that is an estimated service on an annual basis and we'll pay.  So if the hearing got longer and they were here longer then, in effect, that wouldn't change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's tough luck for them?


MR. HOEY:  That's the way I see it right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, 267 is not actually how much you expect to pay Calgary for this, right, because you're going to pay Calgary on a different basis, on the CAM basis; right?


MR. HOEY:  Based upon the discussion I heard, yes, that may be right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But of the variance between CAM and RCAM, that doesn't go in the variance account?


MR. HOEY:  No, it does not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the only one left is the Ontario hearings number, 3,150,000.  Now, that's ‑‑ that includes your counsel costs, your expert fee costs and intervenor costs; is that right?


MR. HOEY:  Yes, those, plus what I will call "other", other costs that may occur.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Transcripts, photocopying, all that sort of stuff?


MR. CULBERT:  Newspaper notices.


MR. HOEY:  Newspaper notices at the beginning of the process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't include any staff costs for EGD people; right?


MR. HOEY:  The only staff costs that it -- may occur is if I incur overtime costs for clerical staff in -- related 100 percent directly to the hearing.  That would be the only staff costs associate with this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's new, isn't it?


MR. HOEY:  No, that's not new.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You've been including overtime in the past in your claims in this account?


MR. HOEY:  If it was related 100 percent to the rate hearing.  I can't have staff doing IR process this year, Mr. Shepherd, and having clerical staff operating between 60 to 80 hours of overtime in the month of June and not compensate them.  That is just ‑‑ that is just inappropriate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're not talking about whether they get overtime.  We're talking about who pays for it.


MR. HOEY:  Well, the ratepayers pay for it.  The rate hearing is for the ‑‑ is a process to adjudicate what rates are and as part of the hearing cost process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that is the only staff‑related cost?


MR. HOEY:  If it was directly related to the hearing, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, just let me come back for a second.  You have a line, salaries and expenses.  Now, that normally would include overtime; right?  That is part of your budget?


MR. HOEY:  Outside the rate hearing, there isn't a lot of overtime that we would compensate staff for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and now let me come back to the question.  If you do have overtime, it has to be in your budget, right, in that line?


MR. HOEY:  If compensated for overtime, yes, it would have to be in the budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, similarly, that line also includes travel costs; right?


MR. HOEY:  Which line?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The salaries and expenses.


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it includes training costs; right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So now let's come back to Ontario hearings.  So if you have training costs associated with witness prep, that's not in the top line.  That's in Ontario hearings; right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's another thing that would normally be in the top line and is actually in the Ontario hearings line; right?


MR. HOEY:  No.  Witness preparation is a cost that's always been incurred in deferral accounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And --


MR. HOEY:  Our variance accounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly, if you have people from Toronto have to go to Calgary, for example, to work on the rate case - they have to look at files there or whatever - that's going to go in Ontario hearings; right?  That's not going to be a travel cost in salaries and expenses?


MR. HOEY:  I don't understand ‑‑ I guess I'm not seeing the ‑‑ why staff would go to Calgary to look at files.  I mean, I haven't seen those costs in the deferral account.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So travel costs then would not ‑‑


MR. HOEY:  If there's travel costs for witnesses, like those people who came from Calgary, those costs are hearing costs that would be covered.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But travel costs --


MR. HOEY:  They weren't forecasted.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But travel costs for EGD employees would not be included, even if they're solely related to Ontario Energy Board proceedings?


MR. HOEY:  Well, I don't know what you mean by travel costs.  Well, you know, I can use the example that I ‑‑ I don't -- I haven't talked to Mr. Milner from whatever day it was that he was on the panel here, but he is from Ottawa and he flew in.  If there's some travel costs associated with coming to this hearing, then I would -- if he sends me a bill, I will pay for those travel costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would be in the variance?


MR. HOEY:  In the deferral account, in the variance account.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then still on that, so we have that category of "other expenses", and that includes some things that, if it weren't a hearing item, would be in the top line; right?


MR. HOEY:  I don't understand your question, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just summing up, actually.  Things like travel costs and witness prep and overtime, training, all of those sorts of things, are normally, normally in the first line, but if they relate to Ontario hearings, they're in the Ontario hearings line; correct?


MR. HOEY:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, Ontario hearings also is your counsel costs?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if there's a variance between what you expect to pay counsel and what you actually pay counsel in the year, that gets into that variance account; right?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have some sort of fixed-fee arrangement with counsel?


MR. HOEY:  We have a number of different fee arrangements with counsel.  Fixed fee wasn't ‑‑ we didn't ‑‑ we did not have a fixed fee this year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No?


MR. HOEY:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Too unpredictable?


MR. HOEY:  Yes, the unpredictability of our counsel dealing with issues raised by intervenors.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have the fees and disbursements of counsel.  You also have fees and disbursements of expert witnesses, right; Mr. Krathwohl's fee, for example?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, finally, you have -- in that category, you have the intervenor costs?


MR. HOEY:  That's correct, including their expert witnesses and any travel and other disbursements that they may have. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in that category, how do you predict that?  How did you budget that?


MR. HOEY:  How did we budget that?  I looked at the trend from prior hearings, not the ‑‑ the '04, because the '04 hearing was settled in a different manner, both the intervenors' costs and our legal costs and our counsel's costs were less, but the '05 hearing, we used that as a more typical type of hearing.


However, I did add some extra dollars in both categories that, having participated in the Natural Gas Forum, the company thought that there might be additional hearings that would -- a potential proceeding or whatever that might come from the Natural Gas Forum.  What we didn't predict was that there would be potentially six of them.  So...

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, that comes to what I think is the last thing I want to ask about this, and that is, with respect to Ontario hearings costs, those are not costs you incur in the test year; right?  They're costs you incur relating to the test year.  They might be costs you incur in 2005, for example, relating to 2006; is that correct?     
    MR. HOEY:  Typically -- for the 2006 OHCVA, yes, that is exactly how that would work.  The other problem, though, is something like the transactional services methodology review hearing, when we filed our evidence in March, I didn't know the proceeding would exist.  And before we got to this hearing, it had been over with.  But I know that there is going to be costs from intervenors for all of that.  So that will probably go into the 2005 ...

     MR. CULBERT:  Depending on when we receive invoices for certain of intervenor costs, et cetera.  Most of the costs will have been incurred by the parties involved in the proceeding in 2005, depending on when we receive all the invoices from intervenors or cost awards, et cetera, they may be paid in 2006, but the costs would have been incurred by everybody involved typically in the year presiding the test year, correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You use an accrual basis of accounting; right?     
     MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So let's just split it up.  Deal first with the rate proceeding.  You have a 2006 rate proceeding which is going on right now; right?     
     MR. HOEY:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is actually included in your 2006 budget; right?     
     MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I look at this Ontario hearings cost $3,150,000, included in that is money you're spending right now on this rate case.     
     MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  What won't be included in the 2006 rates recovery would be the variance.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.  But you have a number in there for this; right?     
     MR. HOEY:  Right.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have fairly good predictability because by the time you file this number, you're also filing the rate case.  You have a pretty good idea of how difficult a rate case is going to be, don't you?     
     MR. HOEY:  Well, I would tend to disagree with you, Mr. Shepherd.  We predicted certain issues would be significant, like the corporate cost allocation.     
     We didn't foresee third party billing access to the bill as an issue beings because that was brought by other parties during issues day, so that wasn't in the estimate.  There was another, I believe another issue that was added to the issues list at issues day that wasn't in our forecast as a potential issue.     
And just -- we also didn't predict that we would be in the hearing room for this long either.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you do know when you file an application for a 15 percent rate increase that you're more likely to have a contentious hearing than if you apply for a 3 percent rate increase; right?     
     MR. HOEY:  I have filed applications on both basis and I find them equally contentious.  Whatever we ask for is too much.  That's the nature of the business.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  A year in the job and you're already cynical, Mr. Hoey.      
     MR. HOEY:  All --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  All I'm trying to do here -- what things are in and out.  So in terms of that line, the 2006 account deals with your 2005 rate proceeding costs, but for the other Ontario hearings, how are those done?  Like for example the transactional services that you did this year; right.  That's the year 2005 variance account; isn't it?     
     MR. HOEY:  Well, it's -- we're not sure which year it should be attached to.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what have you done in the past.     
     MR. HOEY:  Typically in the past, I think we would have gone are the '05.     
     MR. CULBERT:  Correct.     
     MR. HOEY:  But because this for a new methodology to start January 1, 2006, one could infer it is similar to the rate application for 2006.  There should be, therefore, should be in the 2006 OHCVA.  It's a bit of a strange example, but typically if a hearing process comes up, it will be within that test year.     
     So if there are -- I guess a better example is the natural gas electricity interface review process, that will be in the year 2005 --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.     
     MR. HOEY:  -- process in terms of some costs and then depending on when other costs are passed through to us, they may end up in the 2006, depending on whether we still have 2005 available.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But the simple, then, way to look at it is, if you spend money in 2005 on an accrual basis, you spend money in 2005 on Ontario hearings costs, then except for the rate proceeding everything is in the 2005 account; is that right?  Generally speaking.     
     MR. HOEY:  I would say generally speaking.     
     MR. CULBERT:  Unless we know it pertains to a future period such as transactional services.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  In which case you're not sure, because it's a permanent change in methodology as opposed to just for 2006?     
     MR. CULBERT:  Which would affect the future period, exactly.     
     MR. HOEY:  The whole purpose from a rate design point of view is to try to match up the costs to the period so that the customers who are on line on that particular year are paying the costs associated with that particular proceeding.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you hire an expert now, let's say, to work on PBR design, let's say you go to the top expert in the world on PBR, if there is one, and you pay them $500,000 to do a study for you right now.  What year is it in?  Or is it at all?  Is it included at all in any of this?     
     MR. HOEY:  It probably would go in the 2006 OHCVA.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because in 2006 is when you would be anticipating applying for -- using it, if you like?     
     MR. HOEY:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  Now, let me turn to you, Mr. Boyce.  That was just an interlude.  Here is the main course.  I would like to turn to manufactured gas plant.     
     Mr. Boyce, I'm going to start at the beginning, forgive me, but it's easier.  Consumers Gas your predecessor company was incorporated in 1848; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I believe that's correct, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it was given an exclusive franchise initially in the City of Toronto to manufacture and distribute gas produced from coal; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  It's been a long time since I have looked at those documents so I can't recall their exact terms, but that may be correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept that subject to check.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Subject to check.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  These are the easy questions.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Okay.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn't it, that the franchise you were granted and made a requirement of the company and I quote:  

     
“In nowise ...”

I love that word “nowise”.

 

“... to endanger the public health or safety.”     
  
MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I wonder if my friend is planning on producing a copy of the statute that he is referring to?     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That phrase is actually already in the evidence, if you would look at -- I can take you to it if you'd like.  Page 7 of the claim by the City of Toronto.  This is Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 68, attachment 1.  This is quoted from your charter.  I have the charter too, but

--     
     MR. CULBERT:  Could you give that reference again.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I25, 68, attachment 1.     
     That's in paragraph 21 of that claim, quoting your Charter.  Do you see that?     
     MR. BOYCE:  We don't seem to have a copy, I'm sorry, of that specific claim.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept that quote subject to check and you can check it later?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Oh, here we are.  Sorry, which paragraph of the claim?     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Paragraph 21.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, assuming the City of Toronto correctly quoted from the statute in its Statement of Claim, I will accept that.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the company follows that principle even today, doesn't it?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Absolutely.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, of course.  So for a period of a little more than 100 years, the company sold and distributed gas that was manufactured in plants all around Ontario; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, the Consumers Gas Company would have done that only in plants located in the City of Toronto as far as I'm aware.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So there were only the three in Toronto, that's all?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I believe that's correct, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And how many of those properties does the company still own?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Subject to check, I believe we may own only a small portion of one of those properties.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the manufacture of gas has since ended.  Now you sell natural gas instead of manufactured gas; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When did you cease to manufacture gas?


MR. BOYCE:  I believe it was in the early 1950s.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, I heard somewhere that you actually continued up to somewhere in the '60s with some manufactured gas; is that not right?  Maybe it was Mr. Milner said that the other day.  I was surprised when I heard that.


MR. BOYCE:  I'd have to check, but my recollection was that it was discontinued in the 1950s, but I could stand to be corrected on that point.  It hasn't been for well over 40 years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I will leave it to you.  If it has to be corrected, you'll let us know, I'm sure.


MR. BOYCE:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  One problem with those plants is that there might have been migration or leaking of contaminants like coal tar and other chemicals into the ground; right?  That's what we're talking about.


MR. BOYCE:  Those allegations have been made.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I said there might have been migration.


MR. BOYCE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm being very careful.  If the ratepayers have to pay for this, I don't want to say anything on the record.


And with respect to that alleged environmental contamination, there's really two categories; right?  First you have contamination of the land the manufactured gas plants were on, and, second, you may also have contamination of adjacent or nearby lands owned by others; right?


MR. BOYCE:  And, again, that is consistent with the allegations that have been made.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the only claims currently being pursued against the company are by the current owners of land that was never used for manufactured gas plants; right?


MR. BOYCE:  The one active claim that we've talked about, the Cityscape claim, relates to land that was never owned by the company; correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Some of the ones that are under tolling agreements, the ones that are discontinued but might pop up again, relate to subsequent purchases of land that was used for manufactured gas plants; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Again, it's been a long time since I've checked the various City of Toronto claims, but that may be correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it correct --


MR. BOYCE:  Subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it correct none of the allegedly contaminated lands ‑‑ can you assume that whenever I say contaminated, I mean allegedly?


MR. BOYCE:  If you're allowing me to make that assumption, that's fine.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So none of the allegedly contaminated lands that are the subject of current claims have ever been used and useful for ratepayers; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  Sorry, could you repeat that question?


MR. SHEPHERD:  None of the allegedly contaminated lands that are the subject of current claims have ever been used and useful for ratepayers; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  Well, again, the one active claim we've got right now, the Cityscape claim, relates to land that was never owned or used by the company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then it never qualified as used and useful, did it?


MR. BOYCE:  I can accept that statement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  With the exception of one small piece of property, the lands from which the alleged ‑‑ the contamination allegedly emanated, are also no longer owned by the company; correct?


MR. BOYCE:  I believe we continue to own a portion of the old station B in Toronto.  Other than that, the company no longer owns any of those lands.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so none of those ‑‑ subject to that exception, none of those lands are currently used and useful for ratepayers; correct?


MR. BOYCE:  Currently, no, they are not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So of those former manufactured gas plants, there is now quite a number of new owners of those properties?


MR. BOYCE:  I believe so.  We haven't -- at least I haven't personally reviewed any title searches related to those properties.  But as far as I can understand, there are a number of subsequent purchasers of various kinds who own those properties.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And are you aware of any claims made or threatened with respect to any of those lands, aside from the ones -- the discontinued ones that are in the evidence now?


MR. BOYCE:  We're not aware of any new claims, other than the one that is active right now or the ones that we have already talked about in our evidence and in our answers to interrogatories.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in your answers to interrogatories and your evidence, you have only discussed ‑‑ correct me if I'm wrong.  You have only talked about claims where a statement of claim has at some time been filed; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so most of those statements of claim are now defunct because of discontinuances, but there is one that is not defunct and is going forward; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So aside from those, you are not aware of any claims made or threatened with respect to manufactured gas plants; correct?


MR. BOYCE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you been in contact or has the company been in contact with the current owners of manufactured gas plant lands to determine the status of any contamination of those lands?


MR. BOYCE:  I believe we've been in contact ‑‑ when the Cityscape claim was issued, it was issued against both the company and a number of other defendants, and I believe we were in contact with at least one, possibly more, of those co‑defendants.  I do not recall specifically which lands those co‑defendants may have owned.  They may have been subsequent purchasers of lands the company owned, but I don't know that for a fact.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Has the company ever acquired lands on which manufactured gas plants had been operated by others?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes, it has.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are those in addition to the three in Toronto?


MR. BOYCE:  They are all outside of Toronto, as far as I know.  I know there is one in Oshawa, and I believe Peterborough and Ottawa, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are those three the only ones that you have a -- in which the company has acquired lands on which manufactured gas plants were operated?


MR. BOYCE:  As far as I am aware, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And those plants continue to be ‑‑ sorry, those lands continue to be owned by the company?


MR. BOYCE:  The land in Oshawa continues to be owned by the company.  I believe the lands in ‑‑ sorry, in Ottawa and Peterborough likely have been sold.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the one in Oshawa, is that currently used and useful for ratepayers?


MR. BOYCE:  There is no current activity taking place on that site, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just an empty piece of property?


MR. BOYCE:  As far as I am aware.  I've never visited myself, but that is what I'm told.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For any of those three plants ‑- or those three pieces of property, sorry, did the company operate manufactured gas plants on those lands, or did you buy them after the operations had ceased?


MR. BOYCE:  Well, I'm hesitating because I ‑‑ it's possible that some manufactured gas plant activity may have taken place on the sites we purchased in Ottawa, and perhaps that's what Mr. Milner was referring to when he was here last week or earlier this week.


But if there was any activity undertaken subsequent to the company's purchase, it would have been for a short period of time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And at present, are any claims made or threatened with respect to those acquired lands?


MR. BOYCE:  At present, I am not aware of any claims threatened.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And none have been made?


MR. BOYCE:  There were prior claims with respect to the Ottawa lands that were dealt with and resolved back in the early 1990s.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yes.  And is that evidence filed?


MR. BOYCE:  Not in this case, I don't think.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, tell us about that.  What happened?


MR. BOYCE:  Again, this goes far beyond -- or it happened far before my time with the company.  And as far as I'm aware, those claims were quite active and were resolved, were settled, back in the early 1990s.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the cost of settling those claims, was it charged to the ratepayers?


MR. BOYCE:  I'm not aware.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you undertake to provide us with details of that?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J15.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J15.3:  INFORMATION RE WHETHER COST OF OTTAWA LAND CLAIMS IN 1990S CHARGED TO RATEPAYERS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, let me ‑‑ I want to start with the basis of the company's alleged liability and, to do that, I'm looking at the Cityscape claim, or I'm going to in a second, which is at tab 21 of attachment 1 of I25, 68.  Sorry, the pages of this are not numbered, but on my copy it is about 160 pages into it.


MR. BOYCE:  Yes, we have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Madam Chair, have the Panel members found that?


MS. NOWINA:  We think so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It took me ten minutes last night to find it.

     MS. NOWINA:  Tab 21, right?     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Tab 21, yes.  Thank you.     
     Mr. Boyce, I want to take you to paragraph 11 of that claim.  Can you confirm that paragraphs 11 through 13 of the claim, 11, 12 and 13 are essentially a classic tort claim, a duty of a care is alleged and negligence on the part of the company; is that right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, without, again, re-reading all of them because they're fairly lengthy paragraphs, particularly paragraph 12, but certainly many of the elements in that claim appear to be, as you say, classic tort claims.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The cause of action alleged in those three paragraphs is “negligence”; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Negligence and nuisance, I believe.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm getting to that, because I think paragraph 15 alleges nuisance; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true, isn't it, that nuisance is essentially an activity that inherently has a negative impact on neighbouring lands and is an unnatural use of the land.  That's a fair description of the cause of action?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Those claiming nuisance, I can agree would make claims similar to those.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm sorry.  I'm just trying to get at what the legal nexus is here.  I'm going to come to your defence as well.  We're just reading the claim.  None of this is proved; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's the nature of nuisance.  You do something that is inherently potentially harmful and it's not a natural use of the land.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Harmful or potentially just something that somebody who occupies an enjoining piece of land doesn't like for one reason or another.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Just come back to paragraph 14 for a second because we have a negligence claim, we have a nuisance claim.  Paragraph 14 is a trespass claim; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the nature of trespass in the context of this sort of litigation is that the company knew or ought to have known that your actions would have trespassed on the -- on neighbouring lands; right?  Contaminants would have escaped.     
     MR. BOYCE:  That's what the claim alleges, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the essence of that, from a legal point of view, you have to know or ought to have known that to be the case, or else you wouldn't be liable; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I believe that would be company's position, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I'm going down to paragraph 16, the fourth claim, which is a rule of law called Rylands and Fletcher, which says that the company is strictly liable because coal tar is inherently dangerous and hazardous; isn't that right?  
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the nexus of that rule of law is if you do something on your property or you have something on your property that is inherently dangerous or -- and hazardous, then you're strictly liable if it hurts the people around you; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in fact, both the nuisance and the Rylands and Fletcher claim are basically –- they hinge on coal tar being inherently hazardous; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  That's our read on what the plaintiff is alleging, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I agree.  Now, they go on to say in paragraph 17, they accuse the company of and I'm quoting just because I had to:

“... a wanton and blatant disregard for the obvious danger.”

     And they ask for punitive damages; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, that's what paragraph 17 claims.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, none of the claims in the currently outstanding case are based on any statutory obligation, are they?     
     MR. BOYCE:  No, I don't believe they are.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is no liability currently claimed or allegedly payable as a result of any environmental legislation?     
     MR. BOYCE:  No.  The plaintiffs haven't raised any environmental legislation in the claim.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly, they haven't raised any site remediation or clean-up legislation; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  No, they have not.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, in the old claims, there was a claim that you preached your own charter; right?  That your charter -- the part I quoted, public health, right, and there was a claim that because of that you were liable; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Right.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not in the new claim, is it?     
     MR. BOYCE:  No, it's not.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Okay.  Currently, there are no Ministry of Environment or Environmental Assessment Board or similar orders against EGD relating to any manufactured gas plant sites?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I'm not aware of any.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  There are no remediation orders from anybody with respect to any of those sites or any surrounding lands that you know of?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Not that I know of.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So none of the amounts that you're currently seeking to put in the proposed manufactured gas plant deferral account or variance account are the result of any government or regulatory orders to clean up any sites; is that right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Not yet, but obviously the potential that those kinds of orders could be made exists.  We can't predict what those government agencies might do.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're asking for -- what you're asking the Board to order would include that category of costs, right, costs for clean-ups ordered by government, but currently there is no threat or order that that be done; is that fair?     
     MR. BOYCE:  We would be seeking to include those costs in the variance account and as I said a minute ago, we're not aware of any current orders or activities by those governmental agencies.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I'm going to get to the defences to these claims.  But before we get to them, the Cityscape -- let's look at the amount of dollars involved.  The Cityscape action is 50 million plus five million in punitive damages, that's what they've claimed.     
     MR. BOYCE:  That's what they’ve claimed in the Statement of Claim, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have pre-judgment and 

post-judgment interest costs that could add potentially millions more; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- each of your manufactured gas plants potentially - we don't know -- but potentially could have claims from neighbours in big numbers like that; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I wouldn't want to speculate, not knowing what kinds of neighbours some of those sites have.  But certainly if significant development were contemplated on any of those lands --
 
MR. SHEPHERD:  You have no reason to think that the physical facts underlying the issues in the Cityscape claim like, you know, the migration of coal tar and all of that sort of stuff, alleged, that that is any different than any of the other sites.  You have no reason to believe it is different.     
      MR. BOYCE:  I have no reason to believe it is any better or any worse than any other site.     
      MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  Then potentially you could have claims from subsequent owners of manufactured gas plants; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, I would say the potential for those claims exists.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it possible that the total liability for this -- I'm not saying it is going to happen and believe me -- but it could be several hundred million dollars; is that true?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, as I think we have stated in one of our interrogatory responses, the worst-case scenario based on the amounts that have been claimed so far is $130 million, that’s just going from the amounts that are claimed in the Statements of Claim.  And then as you note the potential, for other claims that we are not yet aware of exists as well that could increase that number.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't think you will actually have to pay anywhere near that sort of money, do you?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, in most cases when we're served with a lawsuit, we typically wouldn't believe that the amounts claimed are a true representation of what - even if we would be liable - what we would actually be liable for.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I hesitate to ask this question, but unfortunately I have to ask it because of a particular precedent from the United States.     
     So accept it in that context.  I don't believe any of this is going to happen, but I need to ask the question anyway.  If you had to pay those sorts of numbers, would that potentially be enough to bankrupt the distribution company?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I'm not a financial expert.  I mean, obviously payments in the hundreds of millions of dollars would be incredibly significant and would cause serious problems for the company.  But I can't sit here today and say one way or the other they would have the potential to bankrupt the company.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I don't know.     

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that's fair.  I wonder then if we could go to your statement of defence in this action.  It's found at tab 22 of that same exhibit, I25, 68, attachment 1.


MR. BOYCE:  Yes, I have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, Mr. Boyce, we went through the four claims in the statement of claim, so I just want to go through them and identify your defence.  In the first claim, the negligence claim, I'm correct that your defence is at paragraphs 14 through 16, and, in essence, what you're saying is you weren't negligent because you acted consistent with the industry standards at the time; right?


MR. BOYCE:  In summary, that is fair, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, to my simple mind, it seems to me that if you acted in accordance with industry standards at the time, then you don't pay anything; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Well, that's one element of our defence, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't pay anything in negligence, anyway.  You win on that one?


MR. BOYCE:  If we're found not to have owed the plaintiff a duty of care and we operated the plants in accordance with the standards of the day, yes, I agree.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you are liable in negligence, if the court finds that you are liable under the negligence head, that would have to be because you didn't act in accordance with industry standards at the time, right, according to your understanding of the law?


MR. BOYCE:  According to my understanding, I'm not a tort expert per se, but that is the way I believe we framed our defence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I would like to know, why would the ratepayers pay ‑‑ if the claimant wins on the negligence claim, so you're held not to have complied with industry standards at the time, then what I don't understand is why would the ratepayers pay for that.  Can you make the nexus as to why that would make sense?


MR. BOYCE:  Well, the first thing I would say is we have held all along that these plants were operated in accordance with the standards of the day.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, let me just stop you, Mr. Boyce.  Sorry, let me just stop you there.  I agree with you.  I agree that you did exactly that.


But if that is true, then you don't pay, so we don't have to worry about who pays.


MR. BOYCE:  But there are -‑ the state of the law on the issue is not settled, and it is possible that we could potentially be found liable on other grounds, other than just the question of whether we operated in accordance with the applicable standards at the time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just trying to take it in bite-size chunks.  So we're just dealing with negligence, just that head.  I agree you could be found liable on nuisance or trespass or grounds of Fletcher.  I get that, but let's first just deal with negligence.


It's correct, isn't it, that as you understand the law, you can only be found liable on that if you didn't act in compliance with industry standards at the time; is that right?


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I'm hesitant to interrupt here, and I understand the line of questioning my friend is pursuing, but Mr. Boyce has indicated that he is not a tort law expert.  He is not the person that's responsible for the defence of this action.  So I am a little concerned that some of these questions are travelling over into that area, which amounts to legal questions, which should really be responded to by the counsel that has the expertise and responsibility in those areas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, Mr. Boyce is presented as the company's witness on the manufactured gas plant deferral account, and his responsibility is to inform himself as to the issues.  One of the issues is whether the company could be liable at all, and, if it could, whether the ratepayers under any circumstances should be asked to pay for that.


So that's the only questions I'm asking.  Could they be liable, and, if so, in those circumstances, why would the ratepayers have to pay?  There's four heads of claim of civil liability and I want to ask, for each one, in the circumstances where the company is liable, why the ratepayers would pay in those circumstances.


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  I understand your concerns, Mr. O'Leary.  I think the witness should understand that we understand his answers are not definitive, that no one knows what the outcome of these cases will be, and that we don't expect you to give answers that would be definitive; that you shouldn't have too much concern about being straightjacketed by what you say.


So with that -- and that litigation is multi-faceted.  The elements you're talking about may not be the only elements that come forward in the case.  So on that basis you can pursue it, Mr. Shepherd, but there obviously are some grey areas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I will try to tread gently.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's turn to the ‑‑ just to finish off on negligence.


If you ‑‑ if a court finds, and of course they won't

-- I don't think they will, but let's say they do.  If the court finds that you did not act in accordance with industry standards and, as a result, are negligent and have to pay, can you tell us, tell the Panel, why, in those circumstances, it would be appropriate for the ratepayers to pay?


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I'm hesitant to interrupt again, but that's a question that it would be properly raised if the company was looking for the Board to make a decision as to ratepayer responsibility in this proceeding, and where issues relating to the justification for that and legal arguments could be made.  


So my submission is briefly, one, it is not relevant to this proceeding, but, secondly, that it really is a legal question and it is one that would be dealt with in argument as to what is the test that this panel would be asked to apply and the enquiries it would make into the prudency of the conduct of a particular utility versus what my friend is suggesting, is that a determination by a court as to the laws of negligence, whether or not they apply and would be binding upon your decision.


So it is our submission that it is both irrelevant and it is a legal issue that should be dealt with in argument.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, aside from the fact that Mr. Boyce is a lawyer, this is a legal issue, by definition.  This is about a legal case.  Our position is that there are no circumstances in which it makes sense to have the ratepayers pay for this, and that's the reason why you wouldn't set up a variance account.  It's as the court said in 2003, Don't ask us to set up a variance account unless there is at least some circumstances in which it makes sense.


Therefore, it seems to me that these issues are fairly raised.  If we can demonstrate that there are no circumstances in which they can be liable and the ratepayers should pay, there should be no variance account.  And that's what I'm trying to identify.


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville would like to comment.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd, you're taking this very far down the road.  It seems to me that Mr. O'Leary has basically indicated that the first issue is one of relevance.  What is not being considered here is the disposition of these amounts, but, rather, the capturing on an interim basis, from an accounting point of view, of certain of the costs associated with the defence of these claims.


The other issue, it seems to me, is one that relates to the idea that taking from the statements of claim and the statements of defence a kind of -- and projecting those forward to ultimate outcomes is taking it rather far.  That at the time of disposition, it would normally be the case there would be a more searching review of whether there was turpitude on the part of the company which, I think, you are suggesting should be a disqualifier for ratepayer support for these costs or whether there may be some other mitigation or qualification of the findings of the court in the -- if there is a finding of the court in the ultimate end of this litigation.     
     So it seems to me that first of all, there is a question of relevance, and then there is a question of taking the Statement of Defence and the Statement of Claim to an end point that really is a little too far beyond the horizon that we have to deal with today; isn't that right?     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Sommerville, yes, I understand what you're saying and I guess -- and I wouldn't use the word “turpitude.”  In fact, even if the company is found liable, I don't expect that it's going to be anything as extreme as that.  However, I think it is fair for ratepayers to say there should not be a variance account if there are no circumstances in which the ratepayers should pay the amount.     
     Then, the third criteria, that is protecting -- or the second criteria, protecting ratepayers against shareholders and vice versa, is not met.     
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's a very heavy burden for you to meet in attacking this deferral account, is that there will be no circumstances under which ratepayers could possibly mount a successful claim.  That's a fairly heavy burden.  I'm not sure that Mr. Boyce or anybody else would be able to assist you in that.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Sommerville, I guess -- I think you're right, it's a very heavy burden.  But it's also true that it was the same burden we had in 2003 and the Board found in our favour, now admittedly on much less evidence, but nonetheless found in our favour with extensive arguments.  So we are hoping that we will win again.  

     Now, with respect to Mr. Boyce's ability to answer, if he doesn't have the answers to these questions, that's fine, he can say so.  All I can do is ask them.  And then we would have to go to argument on those issues.     
     [The Board confers]     
     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I will take the hint and shorten it.  

     So I'm going to move on to “trespass” and it's correct, isn't it, that in order for the trespass claim to be met, you must know or ought to have known, at the time, that you were contaminating your neighbour's land; is that fair?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, again, getting into areas of tort law, I've got no basis upon which to challenge your assertion at this point, but I think our claim or our defence to the claim speaks for itself.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  With respect to the third and fourth claims, “nuisance” and “strict liability”, I think you have already agreed that those claims are only -- can only succeed if coal tar was, at the time, known to be an inherently dangerous substance; isn't that right?     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if my friend is going to put evidence of what he just said to him, I wish he would do it correctly and I would ask that Mr. Shepherd rephrase the question.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand the complaint, sorry.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  Well, my notes indicate that the questions asked before related to whether coal tar was a hazardous substance.  There was no reference to it being recognized as a hazardous substance at the time.  

What this shows, Madam Chair, is when you get into this whole argument in the guise of cross-examination, you're using the vicissitudes and irregularities in the descriptions of any arguments of counsel as to what is the definition of strict liability and what is the definition of nuisance or what is the definition of negligence.  And that's going to vary from lawyer to lawyer and it is going to be up to the court to decide what is the correct interpretation of law.     
     The fact that my friend is simply putting assertions to Mr. Boyce, who ask not a tort lawyer, as to what is the law, may or may not be correct, number one, and I'm suggesting that it's both inappropriate and incorrect, but if he is going to make the assertions and relate it back to something that Mr. Boyce said, he should, in my respectful submission, be specific and not add words to it which weren't stated earlier.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I give up.  I will move on to the next subject.     
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is true, isn't it, Mr. Boyce, that in addition to the specific defences to those four claims, you have a number of general defences in your Statement of Defence; right?  More defences than just the four I have been trying to raise.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you don't have to pay anything on these claims we have a different issue.  But if you do have to pay something on these claims, the next question I guess is where do you get the money from, that's the point of having a variance account, right, who actually ends up paying it?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Down the road potentially that is one of the issues that the company would wish to deal with, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course we have the ratepayers and the shareholders as two places to go.  But let's just set those aside for a second.  One of the other possible places you get recovery of this amount is insurance companies; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  That is possible, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  To the best of your knowledge, during the period that the company operated manufactured gas plants, did the company have insurance for business liabilities during those periods?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I do not know whether the company had insurance at all times, but certainly the company had insurance for a large period of the time that these plants were operated and subsequent to the decommissioning of the plants.  And we have made steps, as I indicated to Mr. Thompson this morning, to put those insurers on notice, to the extent that they can be located.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  There could be some times that the company didn't have business liability insurance?     
     MR. BOYCE:  All I'm saying is that I don't know for sure.  I mean we're talking about a company that goes back to 1848.  I don't know what sort of insurance industry existed at that time.  But it's possible there was a very robust one; I just can't speak from my own knowledge that the company had insurance going back that far.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The company has already done an investigation of who the potential insurers are and notified them; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you must know, then, whether you had insurance for the whole time or not, don't you?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I can undertake to determine which insurers we have contacted and what periods of time we have been able to determine their policies of insurance would have been in place.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is the current view of the company that your insurance over the period of time involved covered the potential liability that we're talking about?     
     MR. BOYCE:  The company's position is that there may be insurance, but that that is not settled.  We have had no insurer that has responded to any of the notices that we've put on -- we've put to them at this point.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you've given notices of claim; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  We've put the insurers on notice of this particular claim, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so in doing so, you've been saying to the insurers, We think you're liable; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Some of them have responded?     
     MR. BOYCE:  We have had some short discussions with at least one insurer that I am aware of, dimply to provide more information, but nobody has responded positively.  I believe we may have had some responses denying liability or denying a duty to defend.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You have had denials of liability?     
     MR. BOYCE:  That's my understanding, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, when you have a denial liability, isn't there a process you have to go through to challenge that denial?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I mean ultimately that process may be undertaken.  I think it is premature at this point to start issuing claims or third partying the insurance parties in this process.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't done any of that yet.     
     MR. BOYCE:  No, as I indicated to Mr. Thompson this morning we have not commenced any legal -- or any formal claims against any insurer.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is the company's view that it -- the company's current view, based on your discussions with the insurance companies and the investigations you've done so far, is it your current view that some of this liability may be uninsured?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I don't know the answer to that question.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know.  Okay.  Now, we have the three lands that were acquired by others.  That's three parcels of property; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  That were acquired by the company from others?     
    MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  On which manufactured gas plants were operating.     
     MR. BOYCE:  That's my understanding, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oshawa, Peterborough and Ottawa?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's normal when you buy lands you get representations and warranties from the vendors as to the status of those properties? 


MR. BOYCE:  It's normal now.  Again, I can't speak to what practices were at the time when these pieces of land were purchased, and most of them were purchased a long time ago.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --


MR. BOYCE:  Not all of them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Today, if you buy land, you have an express environmental liability rep; right?  It's standard practice.


MR. BOYCE:  Correct, but I don't believe that those kinds of reps would have been standard practice at the time these properties were purchased.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is true that as far back as any of our grandparents can remember, it would be a standard practice to get a latent defect representation; isn't that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know the answer to that?


MR. BOYCE:  I do not know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you reviewed the purchase agreements with respect to those three lands?


MR. BOYCE:  No, I have not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you contacted the vendors of those properties and put them on notice that if a claim is made against you, you may have a claim against them?


MR. BOYCE:  Not to my knowledge.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Let me just move to another area.  I've given your group notice of this question so that it would be easier.

Tell me whether this brief capsule of the history of the ownership of Consumers Gas is a good summary.

Consumers Gas was an independent public company up until around the early '70s.  Then, through a series of transactions involving home oil, Hiram Walker, Interprovincial Pipelines and others, Consumers Gas in the early '80s became part of the Reichmann group of companies.  I think it was called GW Utilities.


Then, over several years, Interprovincial Pipelines was spun off and Consumers Gas was sold to British Gas around 1991.  Am I right so far?


MR. BOYCE:  A lot of what you're saying sounds familiar to me, but I wouldn't know specifically whether each and every element that you described is correct, no, but it sounds familiar.  That's as far as I can go with it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it correct that around 1994 Interprovincial Pipelines purchased Consumers Gas from British Gas?


MR. BOYCE:  I was with Consumers Gas at that time, and my recollection was that in 1994 Interprovincial Pipeline, or what is now Enbridge Inc., purchased 85 percent of the common shares then outstanding of Consumers Gas.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And subsequently purchased the other 15 percent.


MR. BOYCE:  The remaining public float was extinguished in late 1996.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then in 1998, Interprovincial changed its name to Enbridge Inc.; right?


MR. BOYCE:  At that point, it was called IPL Energy Inc., and, yes, changed its name to Enbridge Inc.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And subsequent to that, Consumers Gas changed its name to Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. BOYCE:  In 2002, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we're close enough on the history.


MR. BOYCE:  Well, just as I said, the earlier ‑‑ I can speak with certainty to the purchase of Consumers Gas by Interprovincial in 1994.  The history prior to that date, as I said, sounds familiar.  You may be correct, but I can't confirm that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to refer to IPLE as Enbridge Inc., if you don't mind, just so that we don't get confused.


MR. BOYCE:  Fair enough.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a different name then, but same company; right?  Okay.  So when Enbridge Inc. bought what is now Enbridge Gas Distribution in 1994, it's true, isn't it, that any liabilities in Consumers Gas relating to its former operation of manufactured gas plants would have been in existence already at that time; right?


MR. BOYCE:  The claims commenced by the City of Toronto, in 1991, would have been in existence, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I'm not asking you about the claims.  I'm asking about the liabilities, because the liability is there even if nobody claims it; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Correct, but I can't speak to what knowledge existed of the potential liabilities.  The only specific fact I can confirm is that there were claims outstanding or claims that had been issued, but discontinued at that time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When EI bought EGD, it would have obtained representations and warranties from British Gas with respect to contingent liabilities; right, normal?


MR. BOYCE:  I was not involved in that transaction.  I wouldn't know what the purchase agreements contained.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It would normally take ‑‑ that is normal practice, though, when you buy a company, that you get a representation as to contingent liabilities; isn't that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  It's common, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, similarly, you normally get a representation that at all times the business has had appropriate liability insurance; correct?


MR. BOYCE:  Again, I wouldn't want to speculate or generalize as to what that agreement, which I have never seen, may or may not contain.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to talk about that in a second.  I'm only asking about normal commercial practice.  You have been a lawyer how long, Mr. Boyce?


MR. BOYCE:  Fifteen years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're familiar with the normal commercial practice when you buy companies; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it would be normal to ask for that rep; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes, it would.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, similarly, you would normally ask for a rep that the business had been operated in compliance with all relevant laws?


MR. BOYCE:  There may be time constraints or time limits on the extent of that warranty.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You would normally get that warranty; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Something to that effect.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you would normally, by 1994 at least, get a rep on environmental liabilities, too; right?


MR. BOYCE:  By 1994, environmental liabilities would likely be identified.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you aware of whether British Gas disclosed any potential liabilities relating to manufactured gas plants to Enbridge Inc. at the time of that purchase?


MR. BOYCE:  No, I'm not aware, one way or the other.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could undertake to file the agreement under which EI purchased EGD from British Gas, just the main agreement and any schedules specifically relating to the four types of representation and warranties that I have just referred to, and any disclosures relating to manufactured gas plants.  I wonder if you could undertake to provide that.


MR. BOYCE:  Well, I'm having difficulty.  I guess I'm not sure I'm in a position to give that undertaking.  I don't possess a copy of that agreement.  I've never seen that agreement.  The company, EGD, is not a party to that agreement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but EI was.


MR. BOYCE:  It would require the consent of EI to disclose what you're asking for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, all I can do is ask Mr. Boyce to ask EI, but I do note that the rule of this Board is that affiliates must produce documents relevant to a hearing of a regulated utility.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I would ask the company to attempt to get the undertaking as requested.


MR. BATTISTA:  That would be undertaking J15.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J15.4:  FILE AGREEMENT UNDER WHICH EI PURCHASED EGD FROM BRITISH GAS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now -- so the reason we're asking about this, obviously - you see where I'm going, Mr. Boyce, and I will finish off with this before lunch - is it's true, isn't it, that one of the places that you could potentially get recovery of any monies you have to pay for this is the person you bought the company from, right, British Gas?


MR. BOYCE:  It's possible.  The other element to it, though, is that reps and warranties usually have a fairly limited shelf life.  There is usually a specific period of time that they will be -- they will live, and after that period of time expires, claims can't be made.


MR. SHEPHERD:  True.  But it's true, isn't it, that if ‑‑ that at the time, 1994, there was no doubt that there was a potential for claims on manufactured gas plants, because you had already had lawsuits; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Lawsuits had been commenced in 1994; correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And presumably British Gas didn't hide those from EI; right?


MR. BOYCE:  I wouldn't ‑‑ I would presume they didn't hide anything from EI, but, again, I wasn't part of that transaction.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if EI bought the company knowing there might be lawsuits on manufactured gas plants, isn't that sort of a caveat emptor?  You know what you're getting; right?  You're getting a company with some potential liabilities; isn't that true?


MR. BOYCE:  There would be all kinds of potential liabilities purchasing a company, the nature of what was then Consumers Gas. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't looked at this agreement; right?


MR. BOYCE:  As I said a few minutes ago, I have never seen it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I assume that British Gas has not been notified of any potential claim by EI with respect to manufactured gas plants; right?


MR. BOYCE:  I wouldn't know one way or the other.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to let us know whether any such advice has been provided?


MR. BOYCE:  I can ask the question.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J15.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J15.5:  WHETHER ANY NOTIFICATION OF POTENTIAL CLAIM BY EI RE MANUFACTURED GAS PLANTS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Madam Chair, I have about another 20 minutes.  I'm happy to finish after lunch, if that is convenient for you.  I'm going to a new topic now.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Why don't we finish after lunch, Mr. Shepherd, because then Mr. De Vellis and Mr. Dingwall don't have a very long period then either.  So we will now break until 1:15?


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:15 p.m.     
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.     
     Before Mr. Shepherd begins, again, there is just one small administrative matter that I wanted to mention now, I may mention it again next week when there are more people here, is that the panel has decided to have written argument in this proceeding, so for those of you who are looking forward to that phase of the proceeding, you can keep that in mind.     
     MR. O'LEARY:  I always look forward to argument.     
     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That reduces the scary spectre of three weeks of argument.     
     MS. NOWINA:  That's what we thought as well, Mr. Dingwall.  

     Mr. Shepherd, would you like to proceed.     

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I may just before Mr. Shepherd begins.  Over the lunch break, you will recall that earlier in Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination, Mr. Boyce indicated that he would take, subject to check, the questions about what portions of former MGP sites which the company presently owns and I believe Mr. Boyce has something to add to his response.     
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, I do.  Based on the enquiries we made over the lunch hour, I discovered that we do, in fact, continue to own -- or the company continues to own a small portion of the former station A lands that are currently used for regulator station.  We also own small pieces of the former Ottawa and Peterborough properties, and I was surprised to learn that we did own a site in Brockville that was used for an MGP that we also continue to own a small piece of.  I do not know what those lands are currently used for; I just know that we do own small portions of lands in each of those sites.     
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Mr. Boyce, back to you, and the last area I want to deal with is -- and I want to make sure that we understand exactly what you're asking for.     
So I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit A6, tab 4, schedule 1.  That's your pre-file on manufactured gas plants.     
     Sorry, A8, my apologies.     
     MR. BOYCE:  I have it, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Who is leading this issue, is it somebody in EI or EGD that has carriage of this problem?     
     MR. BOYCE:  This matter is being carried by EGD.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you the person responsible for it?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I'm responsible for management of the litigation that has arisen out of the manufactured gas plant issue, the Cityscape litigation in particular.  There are others in the company who are involved in strategy on the regulatory side as well, but it is decisions regarding this issue are being made at EGD.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Now, the various account you're asking for us to record costs relating to your operation of these manufactured gas plants, and it's a variance account rather than a deferral account because you already have $770,000 in your budget in this category of costs; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.  $770,000 is set aside in the O&M budget of the risk management department.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's in the risk management number?     
     MR. BOYCE:  It's in the risk management external legal fees number.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Thank you.  That was one of my other questions.     
     And so in paragraph 22 of your pre-file, this is A8, tab 4, schedule 1, you say that you're not asking for approval of clearing costs to rates, but you are asking for approval of the $770,000; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  As part of the O&M budget of the risk management department, yes, we are asking for that money for 2006.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But if I understand what you've said this morning, you're willing to leave open whether amounts in excess of those costs should be recoverable in rates.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, what we're say he can is amounts in excess of those costs if they are incurred during 2006 should be recorded in the variance account and then subject to further reviews for reasonableness.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I listened to your direct evidence this morning and I went to page 17 of your pre-file, so the last page of this pre-file, paragraph 46, you say that the substance -- subsequent review of any costs in this account, that's intended to be about reasonableness.  Right?  Not about whether the ratepayers should be responsible but whether the quantum is reasonable; is that correct?     
     MR. BOYCE:  And that the company has dealt with the matters in a reasonable fashion, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if we go back to that paragraph 22 we just looked at, if I understand what you're saying there, you're saying that you are, in fact, asking this board to decide, in general, whether MGP liabilities are recoverable from ratepayers; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  We are asking the Board at this time to consider the principle of recoverability, subject to reviews in each individual case as to whether costs are prudently or will be prudently incurred.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to make sure I nail this down, because I actually thought you were saying, Let's leave all the issues of recovery from ratepayers to later.  But as I understand there's two separate issues.  One is should manufactured gas plant defence and liability costs be recoverable in rates at all.  And, two, if they are recoverable, are the amounts requested reasonable?  

     You want the Board to answer the first question now.  And answer the second question when you come to clear the account; is that right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  We want the Board to answer the question in this case with respect to the amounts that we are expending or will be expect to be expending in 2006 on the defence and carriage of litigation and other related costs as they relate to MGP and then, subject to further reviews of the Board for reasonableness, accept the principle that those costs ought to be cleared.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the Board decides in principle that your MGP costs are generally recoverable, then that would include both the budget and any variances from that the Board later determines are reasonable variances; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Correct.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And conversely, if the Board decides that you should not recover MGP costs from ratepayers, then you will also reduce your O&M budget by $770,000 for the amount that you've included in your budget?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, I guess that all depends on what the Board determines.  I mean, we think that it is reasonable, from the company's perspective, to be defending a lawsuit that has been commenced against it and ought to be able to recover the general costs that are associated with that litigation.     
     Obviously, we're asking for more with respect to the general principle of MGP, but I would hope that the theory that we should be able to recover the costs of defending this litigation are pretty non-controversial, at least in our view should be.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So now we have another dichotomy here.  We had the one between the two issues, principle versus amount.  Now we have the second dichotomy of the costs of defending versus the damages themselves; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Both.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying they can be looked at differently?     
     MR. BOYCE:  You asked me to assume a certain outcome of the Board.  We're not asking the Board to look at them differently.  What we're asking the Board to do now is accept for inclusion in the variance accounts the costs associated with defending the litigation and any ultimate damages, if they were found to be payable by the company.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're asking the Board to decide in principle with respect to both of them that they're recoverable from ratepayers and it's only looking at the amounts later.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Subject to the reviews for reasonableness by the Board afterwards.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a question of quantum, that’s not a question of principle.     
     MR. BOYCE:  As part of its review of reasonableness, it is open for the Board to consider whether the company has defended or dealt with any particular lawsuit or litigation proceeding reasonably.     
     But we would certainly hope that the Board could narrow the scope of issues that would be subject to review for reasonableness as part of this proceeding.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me turn to paragraph 1 of your A8, tab 4, schedule 1.  Paragraph 1 says that you want the account to include all issues relating to MGP.  Do you see that?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Your business prior to 1958, the whole business was related to MGP; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I believe we introduced natural gas in some parts of the franchise in 1954.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So prior to 1954, your whole business was manufactured gas; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Based on my knowledge of the company's history, yes.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I'm assuming you don't mean the account to be that broad that it covers everything in your business prior to 1954, do you?     
     MR. BOYCE:  No.  We're not seeking to recover costs that were expended back over the past fifty years.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're also, if you have current costs that are not related to environmental contamination, you're not asking for those, are you?  If somebody comes now and has a claim that some worker died in 1946 in one of your plants, you're not -- this account doesn't cover that; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Quite frankly, we've never even considered that, so I don't think -- I think it is fair to say that this account would not cover that.  The types of claims that we have had thus far have been the ones that you have seen and they're all environmental in nature.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in one of these cases - I think the current one that's outstanding - there's a claim for punitive damages.  Are you anticipating that, if you are ordered to pay punitive damages, that would be included in the variance account?


MR. BOYCE:  At this time, yes, that's what we would be asking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, another thing is, what if you settle one or more of these cases with or without admitting liability?  If you settle, the settlement cost is something that you would put in the account?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes.  I mean, there are many factors that would go into a decision whether to settle or not in a particular lawsuit, and it may be the company's judgment at a particular time that settling the litigation makes sense to both the company's shareholders and its ratepayers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if at some point in the future the Ministry of Environment or some other regulator orders site remediation for any of these sites, you intend the account to be charged with those remediation and other costs; right?


MR. BOYCE:  That's our intent, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if one of those regulators or Ministry proposes to make such an order, and you decide to resist it through court action or through proceedings at the Ministry at the tribunal, the costs of doing that would also be put in this account; right?


MR. BOYCE:  In theory, yes, they would be.  The company ought to have the ability to defend itself against a Ministry of Environment or other regulatory action related to these properties, if we feel it is appropriate to do so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you feel that both the ‑‑ let's put the amounts in two categories.  You've got the things that are damages you have to pay or site remediation costs, those sorts of things, and then you have the administrative and legal and expert sort of costs associated with defending your position; two categories of stuff.  Do you understand what I'm getting at?


MR. BOYCE:  I see the distinction you're making, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're claiming that -- you're asking the Board to say that both categories are recoverable; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes.  We are asking ‑‑ well, what we are asking for inclusion in the variance account at this time are both categories of expense that you have just described.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're asking the Board to say that, in principle, both categories are recoverable from ratepayers, subject to the quantum being okay?


MR. BOYCE:  We are asking the Board to consider the principle, the general principle, subject to further reviews for reasonableness.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I understand you correctly, you're also saying that even if the Board decides that the damages amounts or the site remediation amounts are not recoverable from ratepayers, let's just say, that the costs of defence or the costs of legal proceedings, as it were, still should be?


MR. BOYCE:  Well, the company believes that all of those categories of expense ought to be recoverable.  And if the Board ultimately determines that some portion of those expenses or some category of those expenses ought not to be recovered, the company would still argue that the remaining categories or portions of those expenses should be recovered.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm asking a slightly different question.  I'm sorry, I didn't make myself clear.


MR. BOYCE:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm trying to understand whether the costs of defence - let's just call them the costs of defence, all that stuff in that left-hand box - if those ‑‑ if the recovery of those is dependent on the damages or remediation costs being recoverable, or whether they're completely separate issues as far as you're concerned.


MR. BOYCE:  Well, if you're suggesting that the ‑‑ if the Board were to decide that remediation costs, for example, ought not to be recovered, that that should automatically prevent recoverability of the legal costs, I don't agree with that proposition.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  Now, you intend to include in this account the costs of dealing with any claimants, whether they're subsequent owners, whether they're ‑‑ of your own sites, whether they're subsequent owners or original owners of adjacent or nearby lands, and any of those people.  Those are all included; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't make a distinction between liability with respect to the actual lands that you operated on and the adjacent lands?


MR. BOYCE:  No, we haven't made that distinction.  I think that the possibility for both types of actions exists.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're also intending that not only things like your external legal fees, but also things like internal staff and other internal costs associated with this, would also be included?


MR. BOYCE:  I don't think we're asking for that.  For example, my time, my time is covered under the company's O&M budgets.  But certainly our external legal fees, any external experts' fees, external consultants, any of those we would seek to recover.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  You have the $770,000 already in the risk management budget, and some of that is external ‑‑


MR. BOYCE:  Some of it is for experts.  Some of it is for legal fees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And some of it is external costs; right?


MR. BOYCE:  No.  $770,000 is for external legal and experts' costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  See, I thought some of that included some incremental staff costs associated with researching your records, and things like that.  Am I wrong?  Actually, I don't have it in front of me.


MR. BOYCE:  The costs that we have expended in researching records, for example, to develop the schedule A productions for our affidavit of documents in the Cityscape action, were all external.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you hired temporary workers?


MR. BOYCE:  Or law clerks and administrative people with the law firm that's been retained to defend us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you don't anticipate that there will be any internal costs included in this account?


MR. BOYCE:  My understanding of the way the company's ‑‑ or the risk management O&M budget has been developed is that the $770,000 set out there is for external legal and consulting‑related costs to defend this action, the Cityscape action, and any others that may arise.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  I realize this is maybe taking you a bit by surprise, but I'm just trying to nail down what the company is asking for.


So, for example - maybe this will make it easier - if that risk management group hires two more people next year to work specifically on MGP, that is not going to find its way into this variance account; right?


MR. BOYCE:  The variance account is developed ‑‑ well, the O&M budget of the risk management department at this time does not contemplate the hiring of any more incremental internal staff to deal with this matter.


If we have to hire external contractors or experts to help with more document review, for example, to get us through a trial of the Cityscape action, I would suggest that those would be covered in the variance account.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I still need an answer to the specific question, Mr. Boyce.  I'm sorry, maybe it wasn't as clear as it might have been.


If you do add internal resources, am I correct in understanding that those costs will not find their way into this variance account?  They are not intended to be included; right?


MR. BOYCE:  That's my understanding, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, similarly, for example, we're not going to find that there's any corporate cost allocations finding their way into this account?


MR. BOYCE:  Certainly none that I am aware of.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, you also intend to include in this -- in addition to dealing with the potential claimants or the actual claimants, you also intend to include the cost of dealing with insurers; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that could be insurers of your own or they could be insurers of other people; right?


MR. BOYCE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that doesn't include any internal costs, either.  That includes only external costs?


MR. BOYCE:  The way we plan to handle these matters, MGP matters, in the test year, is dependent upon our ability to retain external experts to deal with things such as insurance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if you decide to pursue potential recovery from vendors of some of the properties, say, or British Gas, whether you do it or EI does it, the costs of doing that, would they be included in this account?


MR. BOYCE:  I can't speak to what EI may or may not do, but if EGD determined that it made sense to sue, for example, a previous owner or a previous holder of title to a particular piece of property that related to MGP issues, yes, we would seek to cover that or record that in this account.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you said -- with respect to costs of EI, you said that those would not find their way into this account; right?


MR. BOYCE:  We have not contemplated any legal proceedings being commenced on behalf of EI as part of the theory as to why this variance account is needed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I apologize, but that isn't responsive.  The Board needs to -- it is fair for the board to know exactly what you want to go into this account.     
     So if EI expends money pursuing British Gas, any money, is that going to find its way into this account or not in the current approval you're requesting?     
     MR. BOYCE:  No.  I think it is fair to say those costs will not find their way into the account.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  What about the costs of dealing with   government or regulators who may have some interest in how you deal with this?  Would those costs be included if you have to hire lawyers to make representations, for example, to the federal environment department or the provincial Ministry of the Environment, those costs would be covered?     
     MR. BOYCE:  If the need to make submissions to those types of governmental agencies -- we have already spoken about the Ministry of the Environment -- if those relate to the former MGP sites that we have identified, yes, those would be covered in the variance account.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would include the costs of government affairs or public affairs, or lobbyist-type experts, as well; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I can't say that we have contemplated the need for those kinds of experts at this time, but if it relates to our ability to defend or -- defend ourselves or limit liability as it relates to the MGP sites, I think it is fair to say we would seek to recover those costs.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have to pay something to somebody for whatever, for damages, whatever, and that is charged to the account, but you can recover something either from an insurer or former owner, you're intending those recoveries will be credited to the account; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I think it is fair to say that if we recovered amounts from an insurer, subject to whatever costs we incur to recover those amounts, that those would be seen as a credit.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you recover from a former owner of property, the same thing?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Again, subject to the costs of recovering those amounts, because presumably it would require the commencement of litigious proceedings and all of the attendant costs that would go along with that.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And --
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, some of those recoveries would be subject --      
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Similarly, if EI were able to recover some amount from British Gas, for example, presumably that amount would then be credited to this account; is that right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I don't think so.  Because I think I said a few minutes ago that we would not seek to track any of EI costs if it were to commence that type of action.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  If British Gas were completely liable for all of these costs, the ratepayers would still have to pay the costs EI would get whatever British Gas paid; right?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I don't think that's what I said.  You spoke about an action commenced by EI to recover against British Gas and I think I have said that those would not be tracked in this account.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, those are my questions and, for the first, time I am under budget.     
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.     
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm very proud.     
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. De Vellis.     
     MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. De VELLIS:

MR. De VELLIS:  Mr. Boyce, I just want to pursue an area that Mr. Shepherd touched on.     
     I thought that Mr. O'Leary, when he objected to a certain line of questions from Mr. Shepherd this morning, the basis for his objection was that we're not here to determine, in any way, whether or not liability from manufactured gas should be recovered by ratepayers.     
     But I thought I heard you say just now that if a variance account is created, that there would be some kind of presumption that the amount for the liability would be recovered by ratepayers and that the issues would be narrowed to some extent on a subsequent prudence review.     
     MR. BOYCE:  I think we're talking about two different things.  When Mr. Shepherd was pursuing that line of questioning this morning, he was talking about legal liability under the various legal theories that are expressed in the pleadings in that case.     
     What we're talking about in, in terms of this variance account, is what amounts are properly recoverable -- first of all, ought to be tracked in the variance account and ultimately may be recoverable from ratepayers.  Those are two different things.     
     I think it is possible to envision a situation where a court may find the company liable, potentially, in one of these lawsuits.  Take the Cityscape action for example.  As the company's evidence states, the state of the law in this area is not settled.  It's not something that I think we can come to the Board and say, We have a good idea of where the law sits on these issues right now.  That's different than, I think, the issues of the appropriateness of setting up the variance account are that we're talking about today.     
     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, that's fine.  But do you agree that if we're going to be restricted in any way from asking about the basis under which the ratepayer should be responsible for this liability, that there should be a clear statement from you that you don't think that the creation of a variance account creates any kind of presumption in favour of recovery from ratepayers?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, that's not -- again, I don't think that is what we've said.     
     What we have said in our evidence is that we are asking the Board at this time to consider that general proposition of recoverability, subject to further tests for reasonableness when the account is cleared.     
     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, again, that's -- so essentially what you're saying there is -- I'm going to ask the same question, but that if the Board agrees to create the variance account that essentially there's going to be a presumption of recovery from ratepayers and the only issue in a subsequent review would be the quantum.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well, I think I just covered all of this with Mr. Shepherd.  I think that was part of the discussion that we had over what the scope of the Board's review would be on a subsequent review for reasonableness.     
     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, I think that Mr. Shepherd was restricting his cross-examination on the basis that we're not asking the Board to make any kind of presumption of recovery from ratepayers.  I thought that was the basis of Mr. O'Leary's objections.     
     MR. BOYCE:  No, we were talking about the legal theories in the lawsuits when we had -- that discussion took place this morning.  I don't think we were talking about the recovery principles or the arguments that the company would seek to make with respect to recovery if the variance account is set up.       
     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, for example, Mr. Shepherd   asked you:  In the event the company was found liable because it was grossly negligent - I just - only on that head of liability, and if the court said none of the other heads of liability were necessary because the company was grossly negligent.  In that case, would you say that the amount should still be recovered from ratepayers?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Well first of all, pure negligence and gross negligence are two very different things and I find it hard to imagine a situation where the company could be found grossly negligent for the operation of these MGPs.     
     MR. De VELLIS:  For the sake of my question, if that was the basis of liability, would you still say that the amount should be recovered from ratepayers?     
     MR. BOYCE:  They're two different tests.  And what I am saying is the fact that the company could ultimately be found liable in litigation proceedings by a court should not automatically or in and of itself prevent the company from seeking to recover amounts, the kinds of amounts that we've already talked about, in rates.  They’re two different tests, two different things.     
     MR. De VELLIS:  By two different tests you mean that the regulatory tests would be different from the civil liability test?     
     MR. BOYCE:  I believe so, yes.     
     MR. De VELLIS:  Now, I'm going to ask now about the disposition of the properties that are subject to the -- or that are alleged to be the source of the contamination in the various lawsuits.     
     At VECC interrogatory number 68, it's Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 68.     
     MR. BOYCE:  Yes, I have that.     
     MR. De VELLIS:  In requests A and B, and I think perhaps these weren't worded exactly as they should have been -- we ask:  

“When was the land parcel, now been acquired by Cityscape, sold by EGD or its predecessor companies?”

 And your answer was that none of the Cityscape residential lands were ever owned or used by Enbridge Gas Distribution.     
     My question should have been, then, with respect to the land that is alleged to be the source of the contamination:  When was that sold by EGD or its predecessor Consumers Gas?     
     MR. BOYCE:  Personally I am not aware of the precise history as to how those lands were disposed of.  I believe they may have been sold off in more than one piece.  There may have been subdivisions of the property itself.  I think it is fair to say those lands would have been sold after the plants were decommissioned.  How soon after they were decommissioned, I am not sure.     

MR. De VELLIS:  I'm going to ask for an undertaking, and what I will refer you to is Board Staff Interrogatory No. 145.  That's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 145.


MR. BOYCE:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  There is a breakdown of the $134 million by different lawsuits that were identified in the evidence.


MR. BOYCE:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  If I -- I'll ask a similar question for each of them, but I will ask for an undertaking to provide details of the sale of the land that is alleged to be the source of the contamination in each case, specifically, the sale price and the capital gains, if any, realized by the company, and the treatment of the capital gain vis-à-vis ratepayers and the company.


MR. BOYCE:  We can undertake to look for those records.  Whether -- I mean, if they were disposed of -- in some cases, it's possible that some of these lands may have been disposed of over 40 years ago.  I don't know whether the company would still have records with respect to capital gains and the things that you're asking for.


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, I guess a best efforts basis.


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I might just comment on the request.  Again, I come back to what was indicated earlier today is that the panel is not asking for the Board's decision as to clearing these amounts, and the questions that my friend is asking may be relevant at that time, as to the treatment of the proceeds of the sale, whether there were any benefits from the sale of these properties and whether or not those benefits should be shared between the shareholder and the ratepayer, and those may be fair and appropriate questions at that time.


But right now, we actually don't have an amount that is recorded in the account, and these properties are not the subject of active litigation.  So on the basis of relevance and what I would submit to you would be a far‑reaching and very onerous task, we would request that the request for this undertaking be denied.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, I think it is pretty clear from your evidence, paragraph 22 of Exhibit A8, tab 4, schedule 1 that the intervenors have brought us to, that you are, indeed, asking that the Board accept, in principle, the kinds of costs that are going into this account and that the only test you're asking for later is one of reasonableness.


I think that the questions are relevant, and the undertaking is relevant to that question.


MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  So we need an undertaking number.


MR. De VELLIS:  I beg your pardon.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that undertaking number J15.6.


UNDERTAKING NO. J15.6:  DETAILS OF THE SALE OF LAND

MR. De VELLIS:  Mr. Boyce, do you know whether ‑‑ with respect to the Cityscape action, do you know whether there has been a motion for security for costs brought against the plaintiff?


MR. BOYCE:  We have not brought a motion for security for costs, no.


MR. De VELLIS:  Have any of the other defendants?


MR. BOYCE:  The other defendants have been dismissed from the lawsuit.  We are the only defendant remaining.


MR. De VELLIS:  And I think you mentioned somewhere in the IR responses that the matter is proceeding to mediation in the fall?


MR. BOYCE:  We have a November date set aside for mediation, yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  And the examinations for discovery, have they been completed?


MR. BOYCE:  We have completed a first round of oral examinations.  There are, of course, various undertakings that remain to be answered, but we would expect to complete the discovery phase before the end of the year.


MR. De VELLIS:  And I take it that the matter has not been in trial scheduling court?


MR. BOYCE:  I believe we have trial scheduling court in January of 2006.  Mr. O'Leary may correct me on that, but I think that is what we're looking at.


MR. De VELLIS:  I imagine that the action, then, would fall under the long trials list?


MR. BOYCE:  That, I don't know.


MR. De VELLIS:  Perhaps I would ask that of Mr. O'Leary.  If the trial is likely to be longer than ten days, then my understanding is that it would be on the long trial scheduling court list.  Can you confirm that?


MR. BOYCE:  I'm not a litigator.  I don't know exactly how the system is working these days, in terms of how far out you need to look in terms of booking a long trial, but I think it is fair to say that if we're in trial scheduling court in January, there is a reasonable prospect we will have a trial sometime in 2006.


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, that was going to be my next question.  If you have trial scheduling trial court in January and it's on a long trials list, as far as I understand, the last time I was in long trial scheduling court, they were booking trials in 2008.  So my question is -- perhaps you can confirm this, but it seems to me if you're in trial scheduling court in January of 2006, there's no way you're going to have a trial in 2006.


MR. BOYCE:  I don't agree with that.  I think there is a strong probability we will be having a trial in 2006.


MR. De VELLIS:  Madam Chair, those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De Vellis.  Mr. Dingwall.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  I'm going to be somewhat anti‑climatic.


Mr. McGILL, I will talk to you in a couple of weeks.  Mr. Boyce, I believe you mentioned earlier on that ‑‑ and I've been reading through this morning's partial transcript.  I believe you mentioned that -- in the morning, that the company still owned a small piece of station B, and then you clarified your answer after the break, including additional parcels; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I'm not as concerned with Brockville, Peterborough and Ottawa, and maybe that is just the Toronto person I am.  But with respect to the portions of land that the company still owns in ‑‑ with respect to station A and station B, can you give me a ballpark of what parts of the city those are in?


MR. BOYCE:  Station A is -- I'm going to get the cross streets mixed up, but, generally speaking, in the Parliament‑Front Street area, down in that part of the city near the Distillery, what is now called the Distillery District.


Station B, if I am not mistaken, is just on the east side of the Don River, not far north of the Lakeshore.


MR. McGILL:  On Eastern Avenue


MR. DINGWALL:  That's Eastern Avenue.


MR. BOYCE: Yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  Sort of in the warehouse district, or is that developed land?


MR. BOYCE:  I don't know, I'm sorry, but I know that is the part of the city.  I haven't been down there in some time, so I don't know exactly what is there at this point.  


MR. DINGWALL:  I had intended on going a day without having Mr. McGILL answering a question, but I see I was unsuccessful in that regard.


Does the company have any plans to -- can you tell me what portions of those lands are still owned?


MR. BOYCE:  I think a substantial portion of station B is still owned.  It's still an operating station used by the company; whereas station A, from what I understand, based on what was told to me at the break, is used for a regulator station, which presumably would be a smaller piece of land.


MR. DINGWALL:  So are there any plans at this point in time to dispose of the lands?


MR. BOYCE:  Not that I am aware of.


MR. DINGWALL:  I believe Mr. Shepherd asked you this morning whether or not the ‑‑ whether or not you were aware of whether the question of the environmental potential claims was discussed in context of the IPL-British Gas transaction; is that correct?


MR. BOYCE:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd asked that question.


MR. DINGWALL:  And I believe your answer was that you were not aware?


MR. BOYCE:  That's correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  I noticed that British Gas is not a party to the lawsuits.  They have not been added as a third party?


MR. BOYCE:  Well, I can advance one theory for that.  British Gas was simply Consumers Gas's shareholder at the time, and I'm not sure on what basis they would have ‑‑ they would have been added or should have been added to those lawsuits.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  I will take one quick second to review the last area of the transcript that I had a question with respect to.


It being Friday of the long weekend, and with many of us needing to get to various different places as well as the economies provided by the lengthy cross-examinations of my friends, I have no more questions.  Thank you, gentlemen.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Mr. Millar.
     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair. I was actually anticipating a little bit more time here.  So there is -- we will see how this goes but I will give it a shot anyway.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

     MR. MILLAR:  I just have some questions of Mr. McGILL regarding the deferral account related to the late payment penalties.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  So as I understand it, you're proposing first the creation of this account and, second of all, it would be disposed of in 2006 rates; do I have that correct?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  We're proposing that we would clear the account to rates in this January with the implementation in 2006 rates.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I believe I heard you say earlier that -- first of all, you proposed that the new methodology will be in place for October 2005 unpaid balances.
     MR. McGILL:  That's correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  And I believe you also indicated there will be some incremental revenue to the company as a result of this new methodology?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  That's correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  Did you have an estimate of how much that would be?
     MR. McGILL:  For the last quarter of the calendar year, we expect that the incremental revenue, pertaining to the change, would be approximately $160,000.
     MR. MILLAR:  And that's just for the final three months of the year?
     MR. McGILL:  That's correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  And the total costs, as I understand it 

-- or you're anticipating the total costs for the change in methodology will be $620,000 for 2005?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  The work is being done as we speak and those costs will be incurred in 2005.
     MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you can just give me an idea.  What type of costs are we talking about?  What entails -- it looks to me to be a relatively high cost, again I don't know much about how the system operates so maybe you could give the Board an idea of what this $620,000 goes to.

     MR. McGILL:  Well, the $620,000 is spent to, first, define the requirements that are necessary in order to change both our large-volume billing system and the current mass-market customer information system in order to calculate a time base recurring one an a half percent interest rate, as opposed to a one-time, two percent charge that was applicable to the customer's current month's gas charges.
     So the nature of the calculation, inside those systems is very different.
     So the requirements have to be set out, the design work on the system has to be done.  People have to actually go in, code those systems.  Make the changes to the computer code.  And then a big part of the effort comes at the end in testing the results of that work in order to make sure that we're going to bill the new charge properly.
     MR. MILLAR:  And I assume, since we're getting quite close to October now, that the majority of these costs have already been incurred; would that be fair to say?
     MR. McGILL:  A lot of the work has been done.  I don't believe we have been invoiced for the work as of yet.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I direct your attention to Exhibit K15.1, that's the letter dated September 30th, 2004, to Mr. Player.  It was the first exhibit we numbered today.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes, I have that.
     MR. MILLAR:  And if you look to the last paragraph, the second sentence I will just read it out, it says:   

“Therefore, the Board directs you to make application to the Board to amend your current policy in your next rate adjustment application, or no later than March 1st, 2005.”

Now, do you see that?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes, I do.
     MR. MILLAR:  Just to be clear, the policy we're talking about is the new methodology.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  Just for the completeness of the record.
     Could I get your interpretation of that, since -- I'm assuming since you didn't do it by March 1st 2005, you took this sentence to mean that the later of the rate application or March 1st, 2005, or is there another reason? 
     MR. McGILL:  No.  I think, my interpretation of that part of the Board's directive is that -- that we were to bring an application to the Board to amend the current policy in our next rate adjustment application or no later than March 1st, 2005.  And we made that application to the Board, if you will, by way of the evidence in this proceeding.
     MR. MILLAR:  You mentioned earlier that you were anticipating approximately $160,000 in incremental revenues from the change in methodology.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  Do you propose to apply this amount against the $620,000 in the deferral account?
     MR. McGILL:  No, we don't.  Because the $160,000 incremental revenue is essentially 100 percent offset by underrecovery of late payment penalty revenue in the first nine months of the year.
     Our current estimate for late payment penalty revenue is essentially exactly what is in the 2005 budget.  We will be – our current estimate is we will overcollect on late payment penalty revenue by $473.
     MR. MILLAR:  So had you implemented this change in methodology earlier, I assume the numbers would be -- would be skewed differently?  You would be collecting -- you would be collecting more; is that correct?
     MR. McGILL:  Potentially to some extent.  But the late payment penalty revenue follows the seasonality of the company's revenue stream, and I would have to go back and re-do the analysis to try and determine what the impact would have been for an earlier implementation.
     MR. MILLAR:  But I guess as a general principle anyway, had you implemented this earlier you would be receiving more, more incremental revenue?
     MR. McGILL:  Potentially, yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  Is there a reason you didn't seek to implement this earlier?
     MR. McGILL:  Well, I think the reason we're implementing it in October 1st as opposed to January 1st of 2006 is because we're trying to act expeditiously with respect to the Board's directive.
     The Board directed us to bring forward an application no later than March 1st.  We did that.  It didn't direct us to implement anything by March 1st.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Mr. O'Leary, do you have re-direct?
     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, no, we have no questions.
     MS. NOWINA:  No questions?
     QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Chaplin has a question.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. McGILL just following on from these questions.  I now understand the $160,000.
     I would also just like to clarify what you said in your direct evidence regarding the revenue impact for 2006.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  I believe there you said that, and correct me if I’m wrong, but you said that the impact of the change for 2006 was in the amount of $300,000 over what the estimate was for 2005.  That's due to the change in methodology?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  So I'm just curious, if a sort of two or three-month change has an incremental impact of 160,000, why would a 12-month change not have a proportional impact?
     MR. McGILL:  Because there is a seasonal aspect with respect to the way the company’s receivables accrue.  So that in the -- as we move into the heating season, the value of the bills get higher.  All other things equal, then the amount of late payment penalty revenue would be higher in those months.
     So -- and the other thing you have to consider is that we're going into a completely different model in terms of how the penalty is calculated.  We're going into like a time-based monthly interest rate, whereas before, we were looking at a two percent charge of someone's current gas bill.  So when you try to compare the results of the two, there are a number of things that need to be taken into account.  So the entire methodology of calculating the fee has changed.  The entire methodology with respect to forecasting has changed.
     Now we have to go and apply to one and a half percent to our projection of what our outstanding receivables will be as opposed to before we would simply calculate or estimate a percentage of the unpaid current month's charges that were unpaid by the late payment dates and apply the two percent to them.
     So there is a number of factors that impact on what the difference is going to be, and basically the other thing, as well, we're assuming that there is going to be little or no change in customer payment patterns as a result of changing to the new form of fee.  So simply because we had a difference of $160,000 for the first ‑‑ pardon me, the last three months of this year doesn't necessarily mean that that would be a linear extrapolation over an extended period of time or a full calendar year.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But would it not be comparable for similar times of year, seasonally speaking?  Like, in other words, if October, November and December were $160,000, why wouldn't January, February and March be that way, or October, November and December of the following year?


MR. McGILL:  Well, I think it would be a comparable difference for a comparable calendar quarter in a different year.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.


MR. McGILL:  But, again, it has to do with there would be a difference with what we had forecast our total receivables to be in 2006 versus 2005, based on assumptions around gas costs, what we are recovering, distribution rates.  All of those things would factor into the forecast for 2006 versus 2005.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. McGILL:  It is simply not the difference in methodology.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, the difference between -- the $300,000 difference between your '06 forecast and your '05 estimate is not just related to the late payment penalty?


MR. McGILL:  It is two completely different forecasts, because we have ‑‑


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  One component of which is a new methodology?


MR. McGILL:  That's right.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So even if you had the same methodology from one year to the next, the forecasts would be different?


MR. McGILL:  That's right.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And -- but to the extent that there is a change due to the methodology change, am I correct that you have incorporated that into your forecasts for purposes of your total revenue requirement claim?


MR. McGILL:  In 2006?


MS. CHAPLIN:  For 2006.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Thank you, panel.  You are excused.


The hearing will be adjourned if there are no further matters.  The hearing is adjourned until ‑‑ sorry, Mr. Battista.


MR. BATTISTA:  Perhaps we can specify the line-up for next Thursday.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Mr. O'Leary, do you know what the line-up is for next Thursday?


MR. O'LEARY:  I'm pleased to inform you that the starting line-up on day 16, September the 8th, the company's plans are to start off with the O&M panel dealing with engineering, and that would be followed by the IT panel.  Oh, I'm informed that those two panels will actually be sitting as one panel, so those issues will be dealt with together, or one following the other, but the same panel.


Then when that panel has been completed, it will be followed by the opportunity development panel, and that, we believe, will take up most of day 16.  Our estimate is 5.9 hours, based upon the submissions to date.  


Then on the 17th -- day 17, the 9th of September, the three O&M panels that would appear that day are the legal, regulatory and public affairs sitting as one panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Have a safe and peaceful weekend.  We are adjourned until next Thursday at 9 o'clock.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon hearing the adjourned at 2:10 p.m.
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